GROWTH RESPONSES OF PENAEUS MONODON FABRICIUS TO PELLETED FEEDS OF DIFFERENT PROTEIN SOURCES

ΒY

JOSEKUTTY P.A.

THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree

MASTER OF FISHERIES SCIENCE

Faculty of Fisheries Kerala Agricultural University

Department of Aquaculture COLLEGE OF FISHERIES Panangad - Cochin 1991

Dedicated to My beloved Father



DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis entitled "GROWTH RESPONSES OF <u>PENAEUS MONODON</u> FABRICIUS TO PELLETED FEEDS OF DIFFERENT PROTEIN SOURCES" is a bonafide record of research work done by me during the course of research and that the thesis has not previously formed the basis for the award to me of any degree, diploma, associateship, fellowship, or other similar title, of any other University or Society.

Panangad, 30.01.1991.

SN

(JOSEKUTTY. P.A)

CERTIFICATE

Certified that this thesis, entitled "GROWTH RESPONSES OF <u>PENAEUS</u> <u>MONODON</u> FABRICIUS TO PELLETED FEEDS OF DIFFERENT PROTEIN SOURCES" is a record of research work done independently by Josekutty. P.A. under my guidance and supervision and that it has not previously formed the basis for the award of any degree, fellowship, or associateship to him.

Dr. SUSHEELA JOSE

Panangad, 30.01.1991. Dr. SUSHEELA JOSE (Chairperson, Advisory Board) Associate Professor Dept. of Aquaculture College of Fisheries Panangad

MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY BOARD

Name

Signature

ł

- 1. Dr. Susheela Jose Chairman Associate Professor (Aquaculture)
- 2. Dr. D.M. Thampy Member Prof. & Head Dept. of Aquaculture
- 3. Sri C. Mohanakumaran Nair Member Asst. Professor (Aquaculture)
- 4. Sri P.M. Sherief Member Asst. Professor (Biochemistry)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my deep sense of gratitude to Dr. Susheela Jose, Associate Professor of Aquaculture, for her valuable guidance and constant encouragement throughout the course of this investigation.

I am ever grateful to Dr. M.J. Sebastian, Dean, College of Fisheries, Panangad, for providing the necessary facilities for carrying out my work and the keen interest he showed in the study.

My sincere thanks are also due to Dr. D.M. Thampy, Head of the Department of Aquaculture, Sri P.M. Sherief, Assistant Professor of Biochemistry and C. Mohanakumaran Nair, Assistant Professor of the Department of Aquaculutre, members of my advisory committee for their valuable suggestions and critical comments during the course of the study.

I am also thankful to Dr. K. Jayasree Vadhyar, Associate Professor and Dr. Thresiamma James, Asst. Professor of Department of Aquaculture for their constant encourangement.

I take this opportunity to thank Sri T.M. Sankaran, Associate Professor and Head of Department of Management Studies, Smt. Malika and Smt. Alphi Korath, Assistant Professors (Statistics) for helping me in the statistical analysis of the data.

I also wish to place on record my sincere thanks to Dr. D.D. Namboodiri, Head of Department of Processing Technology and Dr. K.K. Varma, Head of Department of Fishery Hydrography, for providing necessary facilities to carry out the various analysis in connection with this work.

I am also indebted to Dr. I.S. Bright Singh, Assistant Professor (Microbiology), for his sincere help in culturing of marine yeast for diet formulation.

Dr. M.V. Mohan, Assistant Professor, Vyttila Research Station KAU, and Sri P.S. Mrithunjayan, Associate Professor of Chemistry, deserve my special thanks for the varied help they rendered during the course of the study.

I wish to thank the staff of the libraries of the College of Fisheries, Panangad, Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute, Cochin, and School of Marine sciences, Cochin University of Science and Technology for their timely help in obtaining important references for the study.

A host of friends have generously helped me in various ways during the course of my study, I take this opportunity to express my unfeigned gratitude to all of them.

My parents, brothers and sisters deserve my sincere thanks, since they have been a source of great inspiration to me throughout the study.

The Junior Research fellowship awarded to me, by the Indian Council of Agricultural Research during the tenure of my post graduate study is gratefully acknowledged.

JOSEKUTTY P A

Panangad, 30.1.1991.

CONTENTS

, •

I

-

.

,

.

I		INTRODUCTION	1
II		REVIEW OF LITERATURE	4
	2.1	Supplementary Feeding in Prawn Culture	4
	2.2	Food and Feeding Habits of Penaeid Prawns	7
	2.3	Nutrient Requirements of Prawns	9
	2.3.1	Proteins	10
	2.3.1.1	Amino Acids	11
	2.3.2	Lipids	12
	2.3.3	Carbohydrates	13
	2.3.4	Vitamins and Minerals	14
	2.4.	Protein Sources used in Supplementary Feeds	16
	2.4.1	Plant Protein Sources	16
	2.4.2	Animal Protein Sources	17
	2.4.3	Mixed Protein Sources	20
	2.4.4	Single Cell Protein Sources	21
	2.5	Oxygen Consumption, Ammonia Excretion and O: N Ratios	23
	2.6	Ration Size and Feeding Frequency	24
	2.7	Water Stability of the Artificial Feeds	26
	2.8	Keeping Quality of Artificial Diets	28
III		MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
	3.1	Preparation of the Feed	31
	3.1.1	Feed Ingredients	31
	3.1.2	Proximate Composition of Feed Ingredients	32

	3.1.3	Formulation and Processing of Test Diets	32
:	3.1.4	Proximate Composition of Formulated Feeds	33
	3.2	Sinking Rate of Pelleted Feeds	35
	3.3	Water Stability of Pelleted Feeds	35
	3.4	Total Heterotrophic Bacteria and Fungi	35
	3.5	Keeping Quality of Pelleted Feeds	36
`	3.6	Experimental Animals	36
	3.7	Experimental Tanks and Water Management	36
	3.8	Study to Evaluate the Protein Source	37
	3.8.1	Determination of Digestability Coefficient	38
	3.8.2	Monitoring of Physico-Chemical Parameters of Water	38
	3.8.3	Recording of the Data	38
	3.8.3.1	Survival Rate	38
	3.8.3.2	Growth	39
	3.8.3.3	Specific Growth Rate	39
	3.8.3.4	Food Conversion Ratio	39
	3.8.3.5	Protein Efficiency Ratio	39
	3.8.3.6	Protein Digestability Coefficient	40
	3.8.4	Biochemical Composition of Carcass	40
	3.8.5	Estimation of Oxygen : Nitrogen Ratios	40
	3.9	Study to Determine the Optimum Food Ration	41
	3.10	Study to Determine Optimum Feeding Frequency	41
	3.11	Statistical Analysis	42
IV		RESULTS	43
	4.1	Proximate Composition of Feed Ingredients and Formulated Feeds	43

.

4.1.1	Feed Ingredients	43
4.1.2	Formulated Pelleted Feeds	45
4.1.2.1	Initial Analysis	45
4.1.2.2	Analysis After Storage	45
4.2	Sinking Rate of Pellets	47
4.3	Water Stability	47
4_4	Total Heterotrophic Bacteria and Fungi	49
4.5	Evaluation of Relative Efficiencies of Natural Protein Sources	49
4.5.1	Physico-chemical Parameters	49
4.5.1.1	Temperature	49
4.5.1.2	рН	49
4.5.1.3	Dissolved Oxygen	55
4.5.2	Growth in Relation to Protein Source	55
4.5.2.1	Survival Percentage	55
4.5.2.2	Growth	55
4.5.2.3	Specific Growth Rate	58
4.5.2.4	Food Conversion Ratio	58
4.5.2.5	Protein Efficiency Ratio	64
4.5.2.6	Protein Digestability	64
4.5.3	Biochemical Composition of the Prawn	72
4.5.4	Oxygen Consumption, Ammonia Excretion and O : N Ratios	79
4.6	Study on Optimum Food Ration	84
4.7	Study on Optimum Feeding Frequency	89
	DISCUSSION	94
5.1	Keeping Quality of Formulated Feeds	94
5.1.1	Moisture	94

	5.1.2	Proteins	95
	5.1.3	Fat	95
	5.1.4	Ash, Crude Fibre and Carbohydrate	96
	5.1.5	Total Heterotrophic Bacteria and Fungi	96
	5.2	Water Stability of Pelleted Feeds	96
	5.3	Evaluation of Efficiencies of Natural Protein Sources	98
	5.3.1	Feeding Experiment	98
	5.3.1.1	Growth Studies	. 98
	5.3.1.2	Food Conversion Ratio	102
	5.3.1.3	Protein Efficiency Ratio	103
	5.3.1.4	Protein Distability Coefficient	104
	5.3.2	Biochemical Composition of the Experimental Prawns	104
	5.3.3	Oxygen Consumption, Ammonia Excretion and O: N Ratios	107
	5.4	Study on Optimum Food Ration	108
	5.5	Study on Optimum Feeding Frequency	109
VI		SUMMARY	111
VII		REFERENCES	114
VIII		ABSTRACT	

•

LIST OF TABLES

.

,

PAGE No.

			· · · –
•	1.	Proportion of different ingredients used in the formulated feeds	34
	2.	Proximate composition of the ingredients used in feed formulation	44
	3.	Proximate composition of formulated feeds	46
	4.	Effect of storage on the keeping quality of pelleted feeds	48
	5.	Temperature range of the experimental tanks during the study of protein source evaluation	50
	6.	Fluctuations of pH in the experimental tanks during the study of protein source evaluation	51
	7.	Variations in dissolved oxygen content of the experimental tanks during the study of protein source evaluation	53
	8.	Average weight and length attained by <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources for a period of 43 days	59
	9.	Specific growth rate of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on different protein sources	61
	10.	Food conversion ratio of <u>P</u> . <u>monodon</u> juveniles fed on different protein sources	65
	11.	Protein efficiency ratio of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on different protein sources	67
	12.	Protein digestability coefficient of the formulated feeds feed to <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles for a period of 20 days	69
	13.	Biochemical composition of <u>P. monodon</u> fed with diets based on different protein sources	74
	14.	Oxygen consumption, ammonia excretion rate and O : N ratios of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed with diets based on different protein sources	80
	15.	Effect of food ration on food consumption and growth of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles	85
	16.	Water quality parameters of the experimental tanks recorded during the study on effect of food ration	86

17•	and survival of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles	90
18.	Water quality parameters of the experimental tanks recorded during the feeding frequency study	91
ANOV	A TABLES	
1.	Analysis of variance of the data on survival of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources	57
2.	Analysis of variance of the data on the gain in length and weight of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources	60
3.	Analysis of variance of the data on specific growth rate of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources	62
4.	Analysis of variance of the data on food conversion ratio of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources	66
5.	Analysis of variance of the data on protein efficiency ratio of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources	68
6.	Analysis of variance of the data on protein digestability coefficient of formulated feeds fed to <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles	70
7.	Analysis of variance of the data on biochemical compo- sition of <u>P. monodon</u> fed with diets based on different protein sources	76
8.	Analysis of variance of the data on oxygen consumption, ammonia excretion and O : N ratios of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed with diets based on different protein sources	82
9.	Analysis of variance of the data on gain in length and weight of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles obtained during the study on the effect of food ration	87
10.	Analysis of variance of the data on gain in length of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles obtained during the study on the effect of feeding frequency	92

Effect of feeding frequency on food consumption growth

.

.

17.

-

xi

LIST OF FIGURES

PAGE No.

1.	Fluctuations of pH in the experimental tanks during the study of protein source evaluation	52
2.	Variation in dissolved oxygen content (ppm) of the experimental tanks during the study of protein some evaluation	54
3.	Percentage survival of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on different protein sources	56
4.	Food conversion ratio of <u>P</u> . <u>monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources	56
5.	Average weight (g) and length (cm) attained by <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein: sources	63
6.	Specific growth rate of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources	63
7.	Protein efficiency ratio of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources	71
8.	Protein digestability coefficient of formulated feeds feed to <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles	71
9.	Biochemical composition of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed with diets based on different protein sources	75
10.	Oxygen consumption and ammonia excretion rate of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed with diets based on different protein sources	81
11.	O: N ratio of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed with diets based on different protein sources	81
12.	Effect of food ration on specific growth rate of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles	88
13.	Effect of feeding frequency on food consumption and specific growth rate of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles	93

I. INTRODUCTION

I INTRODUCTION

The tiger prawn <u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius is the most extensively cultured crustacean in the countries of Southeast Asia, owing to its fast growth rate, capacity for adaptation to various culture systems and efficient response to compounded feed (AQUACOP, 1976; Alava and Lim, 1983). It is an ideal species for large scale farming in estuarine and brackishwater ecosystems.

Successful rearing of penaeid prawns necessitates the development of a nutritionally balanced artificial diet, through which higher stocking densities and shorter culture periods become possible. It has been observed that the cost of supplementary feed accounts to nearly 40-60% of the total operational cost in intensive farming operations (Anon, 1983). Formulation of a balanced feed containing low cost protein ingredients can bring down the cost of supplementary feed to a great extent. Hence development of an economically viable and biologically efficient diet for prawns is highly warranted. Specific nutritional requirements of the candidate species should be taken into consideration while preparation of supplementary feeds, and design of diet aimed at optimising growth and survival under large scale farming operations.

Determination of nutrient requirements has been aimed at replacing live food with formulated artificial diets. Unlike natural food, artificial diets are not subjected to seasonal variations in supply and can be manufactured under strict quality control. As shrimp feeds become better

formulated in accordance with the research findings of balanced nutrient requirements and better texturised to improve acceptability, they are likely to show improved utilization. As in fishes crustaceans also show preferential use of proteins over carbohydrates. Because of this, and the fact that proteins in a compounded feed forms the most expensive item, studies on evaluation of cheaper protein sources as ingredients for supplementary feed have received much attention in the recent years. In this regard, a variety of natural feed sources are currently being utilised the world As against the highly nutritious practical feeds used in the developed over. countries, which make use of high quality feed ingredients, developing countries rely on mostly nutritionally poor quality raw materials for feed formulation. But increased competition from animal husbandry has led to shortage of conventional feed ingredients which in turn has paved the way for development of a new set of unconventional protein sources, the most important of which is single cell protein source. Their importance is not only because of their high nutritive value, but also because they can be produced on a large scale from waste products which otherwise cause environmental hazards. Though a number of studies have been made in the past for incorporation of single cell protein in the diet of fishes, studies in this direction are limited in the case of prawns.

In India, detailed research on penaeid prawn nutrition was taken up only recently when commercial culture of prawns gained momentum. One of the areas of active research has been the feed formulation technology for the penaeids and suitable feeds are being developed both for larvae in hatcheries and the juveniles in grow-out systems. The types of feeds used at present in various grow-out systems include conventional feeds of different oil cakes and brans, cattle feeds available in the market, trash fishes, clam meat, meat offals, different types of pelleted feeds etc. Many of the feeds are inadequate to meet the nutritional requirements of the prawns. Moreover the exorbitant cost of the pelleted feed is another hindrance for its large scale use in prawn farming. Hence formulation of a low cost, nutritionally balanced prawn feed containing adequate levels of protein is essential.

In the present study an attempt has been made to evaluate the efficiency and keeping quality of pelleted feeds formulated from different protein sources such as clam meal, prawn meal, slaughter house waste meal, soyabean meal, and single cell protein (marine yeast) for <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles. The optimum food ration and feeding frequency of the selected diet were also studied in view of their practical utility in farming operation.

II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

.

· .

.

.

.

.

.

-

II REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Supplementary feeding in Prawn Culture

In the traditional prawn and fish culture practices in the brackishwater regions, followed in India and some of the Southeast Asian countries, supplementary feeding of the population is not practised and the prawn and fish grow by feeding on the natural food available in the ponds. According to Hepher and Ghervinski (1965), intensification of culture practices and large scale stocking of fish and prawn may lead to depletion of natural food available in the environment which in turn may affect their growth. Supplementary feeding is the only satisfactory solution to this problem. The most important ingredients used in supplementary feeds are clam, mussel, trash fish, animal flesh, silk worm pupae, bone meal, liver, blood meal, eggs, oil cakes obtained from ground nut, coconut, gingelly, mustard and soyabean, rice bran, wheat bran, and several kinds of grains either singly or in combination (Spinelli <u>et al.</u>, 1978; Hepher and Pruginin, 1981).

With the rapid progress of semi-intensive and intensive systems of culture, formulation and development of practical feeds meeting the nutritional requirements of candidate species for obtaining optimum growth and survival during the different phases of its growth were evolved. Accordingly, during the past two decades considerable advancements have been made in the various aspects of feed technology and several types of compounded feeds have been developed and are being used for the culture of prawns in different countries of the world (Japan – Shigueno, 1984; Philippines – SEAFDEC, 1981 & 1983; Liu and Mancebo, 1983; Apud, 1984; Pascual, 1984; Tibbu <u>et al.</u>, 1984; Taiwan - Liao, 1981; Chiang and Liao, 1985; Tahiti - AQUACOP, 1984 a & b; United States - Parker and Fred, 1974; Elam and Green, 1974; Huang <u>et al.</u>, 9184; Lee and Shlesser, 1984; Latin America - Escobar, 1984; Scura, 1985).

One of the earliest published work of compounded rations for prawn was that of Kanazawa et al. (1970), who designed a diet for P. japonicus. Deshimaru and Shigueno (1972) used a diet made up of several ingredients such as squid meal, fish meal, mysid meal, shrimp meal, yeast, soyabean meal, active sludge, casein and gelatin for rearing the prawn P. japonicus. They found that the diet having amino acid composition similar to the amino acid composition of prawn gave good results. Hence they prepared diets with amino acid composition similar to that of P. japonicus by using a mixture of animal and plant protein sources and established that prawns could be successfully cultured on such artificial diets. Elam and Green (1974) conducted feeding experiments with different formulated feeds on P. setiferus and obtained food conversion ratios ranging from 1.8 to 2.3. Colvin (1976) studied the growth, digestability and food conversion ratios of some diets formulated with fish meal and shrimp meal in P. indicus and reported a growth rate of about 0.44 mg/day and lowest food conversion Feeding trials conducted on P. monodon cultured in cages ratio of 2.72. using a practical feed in Philippines (SEAFDEC, 1981) had shown a food conversion ratio of 4.8. In semi-intensive culture experiments with the same species (SEAFDEC, 1983) commercial prawn feed with 45% protein and an experimental feed with 35% protein produced food conversion ratios of 3.4 to 4.6 and 6.1 respectively.

5

In India also attempts have been made to develop practical feeds with locally available materials by Alikunhi et al. (1980); Ahamad Ali and Sivadas (1983) and Mohamed. et al. (1983) to rear prawn larvae and post-Suitable artificial feeds were also formulated by a number of workers larvae. for feeding the prawns in the grow-out systems. Two sets of supplementary feeds were used in 1978 for rearing P. monodon post larvae at Kakdwip research centre of CIFRI^{*}. The first set consisted of soyabean flour, Brewer's yeast, maize powder, wheat bran, calcium phosphate, vitamin and algin and the second set of goat offal, yeast algal power, wheat flour and terra-It was reported that survival of post larvae fed with above diets mycin. ranged from 57% to 90% (Anon, 1978). Specific studies on feeds and nutrition of Penaeus monodon were also carried out at Kakdwip fish farm using different feed formulations by Rajyalakshmi et al. (1979). Protein percentages in the feeds were maintained at 20 to 36% with both animal and plant protein sources. Feed containing squid meal and soyabean meal gave the best growth and food conversion. Goswami and Goswami (1979) evaluated the growth performance and conversion efficiency in penaeid prawns with feeds prepared from slaughter house products and poultry processing byproducts.

Raman <u>et al.</u> (1982) conducted three sets of yard experiments to determine the effects of supplementary feeds prepared from cheap and locally available materials on growth and survival of <u>P. indicus</u>. A combination of fish meal, rice bran and tapioca in two proportions of 1:1:1 and 2:2:1 respectively proved to be the best among the feeds. Ahamad Ali (1982a) conducted experiments in juveniles of <u>P. indicus</u> and reported that feed

* Central Inland Fisheries Research Institute

containing clam meal powder gave a food conversion of 1.46, mantis shrimp of 1.71 and prawn waste meal of 2.27. Mohammed Sultan <u>et al.</u> (1982) formulated feeds with frog flesh and reported a food conversion ratio 3.01 to 4.96 for <u>P. indicus</u> and 5.87 to 8.21 for <u>P. monodon</u>. Although the above endeavours have provided certain informations on the use of compounded feeds, the results and production rates obtained have not been consistent.

2.2 Food and feeding habits of Penaeid Prawns

Investigations on food and feeding habits of prawns have helped to develop suitable supplementary feeds and feeding practices. Prawns inhabit the benthic region and feed on live animals and vegetable matter as well as dead organic matter. According to Chopra (1939) the prawns eat all types of food, living or dead that comes in its way. Gopalakrishnan (1952) observed that crustaceans and vegetable matter formed bulk of gut contents Panikkar (1952) has reported that food of young penaeids of P. indicus. consisted of algae, minute organisms and organic detritus. Panikkar and Menon (1956) also found that P. indicus, M. dobsoni, Parapenaeopsis stylifera were mainly detritus feeders, although small amounts of animal remains, sand and mud were encountered in their gut contents. Hall (1962) considered penaeids to be omnivores, with P. monodon in particular preferring crustaceans, vegetable matter, polychaetes, molluscs, fish and insects. Subrahmanyam (1963) concluded that P. monodon is carnivorous in habit. This view is supported by Thomas (1972) who studied the feeding habits of P. monodon from Korapuzha estuary and has reported that the contained mainly crustaceans, molluscs, polychaetes and fishes. Kuttyamma (1973) observed that

a

debris composed of mud and organic matter constituted the main portion of the stomach contents in <u>P. monodon</u>, while crustaceans ranked next in quantity. Mohanty (1975) reported that the stomach contents of <u>P. monodon</u> include 29.78% of food of animal origin while Rao (1967) estimated it to be 40.77%. Marte (1980) reported that the food of <u>P. monodon</u> consisted of crustacea (small crabs, and shrimps) and molluscs making up 85% of ingested food, the remaining 15% consisted of fish, polychaetes, ophiuroids, debris, sand and silt. Su and Liao (1986) also observed more or less similar items in the gut contents of <u>P. monodon</u>. All these findings suggest that <u>P. monodon</u> is more of a carnivore with preference to macro-invertebrates rather than a scavenger or debris feeder.

Feeding intensity of P. monodon during different months in a year revealed that the species feeds more intensively during February to May and moderately during June to September (Mohanty, 1975). According to Marte (1980) P. monodon seems to have increased feeding activity during Significant monthly variations in feeding activity were shown ebb tide. by the wild prawn caught from Mikato area (Marte, 1982). The species feeds by seizing the food with its pincers and pushing it to mouth (Villadolid and Villaluz, 1951). If the feed stuff in the pellet is not homogenous enough, larger particles are spit out. If the whole pellet is small enough for their mouth, it is consumed (Pascual, 1988). Cannibalism is caused by factors such as insufficient food, crowding, poor quality of feed or nutritionally inadequate ration. Although P. monodon has been found to feed continuously all day, it seems to consume more food at night than during the day (Pascual, Apud et al. (1980) have observed that P. monodon in ponds eat 1988).

at anytime of the day but prefer to feed at bottom when there is light. The prawns move around the perimeter of the pond in late afternoon and evening, and hence suggestions are to give more feed during this time (Pascual, 1988).

2.3 Nutrient requirements of Prawns

The results of various investigations carried out on the nutrition and nutritional requirements of prawns have been reviewed by New (1976), Castell <u>et al.</u> (1981); Claybrook (1983) and Dall and Moriarty (1983). New (1980) compiled a bibliography of prawn and shrimp nutrition, and Pruder <u>et al.</u> (1983) reviewed works on penaeid nutrition. Kanazawa (1984) also reviewed the recent advances made in peanaeid nutrition.

Nutrition in crustaceans as such is complicated by a number of abiotic and biotic factors which have tremendous influence on growth and utilization of food. Abiotic factors such as temperature, pH, salinity, dissolved oxygen, depth, light etc, have been found to directly affect growth and food utilization of crustaceans (Subrahmanyam, 1962; Venketaramiah <u>et al.</u>, 1974; Vernberg, 1983). Amongst the biotic factors, moulting which forms an important event in the life cycle has considerable influence on the growth and feed utilization of prawns. It has been established that each moulting in crustacea results in considerable energy loss ie about 7.3% per moult in <u>Macrobrachium rosenbergii</u> and potentially and average rate of 0.81% per day is lost (Nelson <u>et al.</u>, 1977). It amounts to a large quantum of energy since at this stage the prawn moults every 8 to 10 days or even earlier (Stern, 1976).

2.3.1 Proteins

Among the nutrients, protein is the most important, as it forms the major growth factor in animal tissues. So greater emphasis was given for understanding the protein requirement and for determining the optimum protein levels in the diet of different species (Kanazawa et al. (1971a); Deshimaru and Shigueno (1972); Balazs et al. (1973); Forster and Beard (1973); Deshimaru and Kuroki (1975a); Colvin (1976); Khannapa (1979); Kanazawa These results indicate that protein requirement ranging from et al. (1981). 15 to 80% is needed for different species of penaeid prawns. Deshimaru and Yone (1978a) have pointed out that P. japonicus requires 52 to 57% protein for optimum growth and food conversion efficiency. Kanazawa et al. (1981) have demonstrated that Metapenaeus monoceros showed best growth with a diet containing 55% casein. Colvin (1976) has reported, the optimum protein level for P. indicus as 43%. In the case of Penaeus monodon it was shown to be 46% by Lee (1971); 40% by AQUACOP (1977); Khannapa (1977); and Alava and Lim (1983); 35% by Bages and Sloame (1981); and 50% by Millamena et al (1986). Bautista (1986) in a recent study on P. monodon has shown that 40 to 50% protein gave best growth and survival in the presence of 20% carbohydrate and 5 to 10% lipid. Nezaki et al. (1986a) found that 55% protein with 15% carbohydrate in grow-out diets gave the best growth for P. monodon. However according to them, when the carbohydrate content is increased to 25%, a 45% protein diet can give results comparable to those diets containing 55% protein.

In <u>Penaeus</u> <u>aztecus</u> the protein requirement was reported to be 23 to 31% (Shewbart <u>et al.</u>, 1973; Venketaramiah <u>et al.</u>, 1975). In the case of <u>P. setiferus</u> it was 28 to 32% (Andrews <u>et al.</u>, 1972). Colvin and Brand (1977) have shown the protein requirement for <u>P. californiensis</u> to be 31% and for <u>P. vannamei</u> to be 30%. For <u>P. merguiensis</u> it was shown to be 50% by AQUACOP, (1978) and 34 to 42% by Sedgwickk (1979). The variation in protein requirement can be attributed to various factors such as differences in biological value of protein sources which again depends on the amino acid composition of protein (Harper, 1981; Kies, 1981); composition of other dietary components, viz. fat and carbohydrate ratio (Andrews <u>et al.</u>, 1972; Teshima and Kanazawa, 1984) and amount of organic salts present in the diet (Deshimaru and Kuroki, (1974); New, 1976). Variation in environmental factors also contributes to a certain extent to the difference in protein requirement.

2.3.1.1 Amino acids

Amino acids being the building blocks of protein, their profile in the protein source greatly determines the efficacy of its utilization. Shewbart et al. (1972) investigated the amino acid requirement of <u>P. aztecus</u>. Kanazawa and Teshima (1981) have elucidated by tracer techniques using radioactive acetate, that <u>P. japonicus</u> requires ten amino acids ie, argenine, methionine, valine, threonine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, histidine, phenyl alanine and tryptophan all of which are also essential amino acids for various fishes. The requirements of these essential amino acids have also been demonstrated for other penaeids such as <u>P. monodon</u> (Coloso and Cruz, 1980) and <u>P. aztecus</u> (Shewbart <u>et al.</u>, 1972). It was also shown by Deshimaru and Kuroki, (1975b) that diets containing only aminoacids instead of protein brought

11

about a very poor growth and high mortality in feeding trials of <u>P. japonicus</u>. Wilson (1984), has shown that, the closer the essential amino acid pattern of the diet to that of the cultured species, the more effective is the diet for its growth.

2.3.2 Lipids

Lipids are important for their high energy value, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) phospholipid content and vitamins (A, D, E & K). Prawns have specific qualitative requirement of lipids rather than their quantity. A lipid level of below 10% was found to be adequate in the prawn diets (Andrews et al., 1972; Forster and Beard, 1973). Employing radioisotope tracer technique, Kanazawa and Teshima (1977) and Kanazawa et al. (1977) have shown that prawns are not capable of synthesizing polyunsaturated fatty acids such as linoleic acid (18 : 2006), linolenic acid (18 : 3003), eicosapentaenoic acid (20 : 5W3) and decosa hexaenoic acid (22 : 6W3). These fatty acids are essential for prawns and should be supplied in their diet. In fact Kanazawa (1984) has demonstrated, that the diets containing the above fatty acids produced faster growth rate in P. japonicus. Mendoza (1982) found that a diet containing 11.7% lipid gave maximum growth, efficient feed conversion, protein efficiency ratio and good survival in P. monodon juveniles. Catacutan and Kanazawa (1985) showed that the best growth of P. monodon juveniles was attained, with lipid source containing high amounts of highly unsaturated fatty acids of the W3 Series in semipurified diets, the quantity being 10 to 11% of the diet. Bautista (1986) also showed that a 10% lipid content in the diet of P. monodon

was effective in assuring good growth and survival, as long as protein content was between 40 and 45% and carbohydrate was 25%.

Other types of lipids needed by the prawns are cholesterol (Nalzaro, 1982) and phospholipid (Pascual, 1986). Feeding experiments using artificial diets have shown that <u>P. japonicus</u> requires 0.5% cholesterol for maximum growth and survival (Kanazawa <u>et al.</u>, 1971b). But Nalzaro (1982) reported that, a total cholesterol level of 1% is required in <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles for maximum growth, high food conversion, high protein efficiency, high survival rate and maintenance of a constant level of body cholesterol. Ubal <u>et al.</u> (1986) indicated that a level of 0.6% to 1.0% cholesterol in a semi-purified diet containing 6% refined cuttle fish liver oil and soya oil in 3:1 ratio gave good weight gain and feed efficiency in P. monodon juveniles.

Lecithin which contains 62% phospholipids; phosphatidyl choline, phosphatidyl inositol, and phosphatidyl ethanolamine, has been found necessary in prawn grow-outs at around 3% in the diet (Pascual, 1986). Nazaki <u>et al.</u> (1986b), showed that soyabean lecithin levels at around 4% gave the best results, compared to those fed greater than 4.6% soyabean lecithin levels. Percentage weight gains and feed efficiency increased significantly in <u>P</u>. <u>monodon</u> juveniles and decreased with increasing lecithin levels beyond 4%, Millamena <u>et al.</u> (1986) reported a level of 4% lecithin was necessary for brood stock diets.

2.3.3 Carbohydrates

Carbohydrates in prawn diets are not only useful for their energy value and protein sparing function but also for their binding properties.

The nutritive value of carbohydrates in the diet of prawns was investigated by a number of workers (Cowey and Forster, 1971; Forster and Gabbot, 1971; Sick and Andrews, 1973; Ahamad Ali, 1982b; Alava and Pascual, 1987), who found that penaeid prawns generally utilize disaccharides and polysaccharides better than monosaccharides, and a carbohydrate level of 5 to 40% is needed in their diet. The carbohydrates that have been studied in prawn diets include, sucrose, dextrin, maltose, molasses, trehalose, glucose etc (Pascual et al., 1983; Alava and Pascual, 1987). Alava and Pascual (1987) showed that sucrose and trehalose as better sugars than glucose, for P. monodon juveniles. Addition of 20% glucose in the diet for P. aztecus showed reduced growth rate (Andrews et al., 1972). It was postulated that dietary glucose was rapidly but inefficiently utilised for energy metabolism whereas the glucose from digested polysaccharides was absorbed more effectively (Andrews and Sick, 1972). Different levels and types of dietary carbohydrates were found to affect body composition. The 40% glucose diet produced lower lipid levels, than 10% starch or glucose, but not significantly different levels from the 40% starch diet. Animals fed on 40% glucose had lower protein levels than those fed with 40% starch or 10% glucose. High levels of dietary starch have been used for their binding qualities in several experimental and commercial diets (Balazs et al., 1973; Sick and Harris, 1974).

2.3.4 Vitamins and Minerals

Vitamins and minerals are important for regulating body processes in prawns. Requirements of vitamins and minerals in the diet of prawns

14

were investigated by several workers (Fisher, 1960; Kanazawa et al., 1970; Kitayama et al., 1971; Forster and Gabbot, 1971; Forster and Beard, 1973; Balazs et al., 1974). They found that B vitamins are necessary for proper utilization of protein, carbohydrates and fats, while vitamin A and C are important in building resistance to infection, Vitamin D together with minerals, calcium, and phosphorus is necessary for the formation of the exoskeleton or shell. All these materials although needed in minute amounts are necessary for the proper utilization of food by the prawns. Hence these nutrients should also be included in complete diets for prawns in their proper amounts. Kitabayashi et al. (1971b) observed accelarated growth in <u>P. japonicus</u> fed with diets containing Vitamin C. Deshimaru and Kuroki (1976) have shown that juveniles of <u>P. japonicus</u> require 300 to 1000 mg of ascorbic acid, 60 mg of choline, 200 to 400 mg of inositol, 6 to 12 mg of thiamine, and 12 mg of pyridoxine per 100 gms diet.

The importance of carotenoids in prawn diets for the pigmentation had been demonstrated by Joseph and Williams (1975), and Sandifer and Joseph (1976).

In the case of minerals, the requirement of calcium and phosphorus in the diet of <u>P. japonicus</u> was studied by Deshimaru and Yone, 1978b; Deshimaru <u>et al.</u>, 1978) and of <u>P. aztecus</u> by Colvin and Brand (1977). The best growth rates of <u>P. japonicus</u> were achieved with diets where levels of 1.04% phosphorus and 1.24% calcium were added (Kitabayashi <u>et al.</u>, 1971a). Inclusion of mineral premix at the rate of five per cent, in a casein based diet for <u>P. aztecus</u> gave 18% increase in biomass (Sick <u>et al.</u>, 1972). Kanazawa <u>et al.</u> (1984) reported the requirement of calcium, phosphorous, magnesium potassium, copper, iron and manganese in the diet of <u>P. japonicus</u>. Bautista (1986) pointed out the importance of calcium phosphorus rations in the diets of <u>P. monodon</u> and found a 1:1 ratio to be effective in hardening the exo-skeleton and preventing soft shell disease.

2.4 Protein sources used in supplementary feeds

2.4.1 Plant protein sources

Feeds stuffs of vegetable origin are as a whole lower in protein content when compared with those of animal origin. In addition, the presence of high amounts of carbohydrates, fibre and other organic molecules such as glucosides, phytates, and cyclopropanes in these sources, present the nutritionist with problems that are generally not encountered with sources of animal origin (Spinelli et al., 1979).

Most plant proteins have been shown to yield poor growth rates in prawns when used individually excepting a few like soyabean meal, (Kanazawa <u>et al.</u>, 1970; Sick and Andrews, 1973; Millikin <u>et al.</u>, 1980; Maguire and Hume, 1982), wheat gluten (Forster and Gabbot, 1971; Deshimaru and Shigueno, 1972) and peanut meal (Lee, 1970; Sick <u>et al.</u>, 1972; Forster and Beard, 1973; Balazs <u>et al.</u>, 1973). The improved growth rates produced by some of the plant protein sources have been attributed to their higher polysaccharide: contents compared to monosaccharides (Forster and Gabbot, 1971); Kitabhayashi <u>et al.</u>, 1971b; Andrews <u>et al.</u>, 1972; Sick and Andrews, 1973).

Kanazawa et al. (1970) reported that soyabean meal is the best protein

source among plant proteins for P. japonicus. Deshimaru and Shigueno (1972) observed that the aminoacid profile of the prawns is similar to that of soyabean to a large degree which may be the reason for higher growth rate in prawns fed with soyabean meal. But when compared to animal sources it is on the lower side. Sick and Andrews (1973) also made the same observation in P. duorarum. Sure (1948) found relatively higher levels of lysine and threonine in soyabean meal than groundnut oil cake. The above two amino acids have been shown to be essential for growth in prawns by Cowey and Forster, 1971 and Shewbart et al., 1972. Besides, groundnut oil cake and coconut oil cake contain relatively higher levels of unconsumable carbohydrates such as cellulose, hemicellulose, gums and pectin in their cell walls compared to soyabean meal, which are not acted upon by the digestive enzymes and excreted mainly through faeces and this results in reduced growth rate in prawns (Swaminathan, 1967). However, Gopal (1986) has reported higher growth and survival for P. indicus juveniles fed on groundnut oil cake based feed.

Viola <u>et al.</u> (1981) reported that soyabean meal can successfully replace fish meal in the diet of fish: . High growth rate and conversion efficiency were reported when mangrove foliage was incorporated in the diet of <u>P</u>. <u>indicus</u> juveniles (Sambasivan and Krishna Murthy, 1986).

2.4.2 Animal protein sources

Animal protein sources are found to be better for feed formulation of prawns than plant protein sources. Among the animal protein sources, proteins of marine origin are found to be superior than those of freshwater or terrestrial origin, not only due to their amino acid profile but also due to the better composition of their unsaturated fatty acids essential for prawns (Cowey and Sargent, 1972) as well as higher ash content (Boghen and Castell, 1981).

One of the earliest artificial diet of prawn P. japonicus was derived from that of a silk worm pupae; chinook salmon and brine shrimp (Kanazawa Later in 1972, Deshimaru and Shigueno used a diet made et al., 1970). up of several ingredients such as squid meal, fish meal, mysid shrimp meal, yeast, active sludge, casein and gelatin for the same species. Fresh clam meat was conventionally used as feed for prawns by Kanazawa et al. (1970) who reported that fresh short necked clam Tapes philippinarum gave superior growth rates compared to compounded diet in P. japonicus. Similar results were also obtained by Forster and Beard (1973) in Palaemon serratus with fresh mussel meat. But Vellegas (1978) showed that the growth and survival of P. monodon larvae fed with Tapes was only next to that of compounded diet. Ahamad Ali (1982a) used fresh clam meat of Sunetta scripta as control diet for P. indicus while evaluating the suitability of various protein sources, but found poor performance of fresh clam meat and observed heavy mortality.

Prawn meal has also been found to be a suitable protein source for the formulation of feed for penaeid prawns. Sick and Andrews (1973) obtained higher growth and survival in <u>P. duorarum</u> fed on diets with shrimp meal. Forster and Beard (1973) also indicated that shrimp meal is nutritionally superior to fish meal in the diet of <u>Palaemon serratus</u>. Superiority of prawn meal may be due to its amino acid profile, which may satisfy the nutritional demand of the juvenile prawn. As stated earlier, diets with

18

an amino acid profile similar to shrimp and rich in basic amino acids could produce relatively higher growth rate (Deshimaru and Shigueno, 1972). Forster (1976), reported that prawn waste contain several essential amino acids which induce high growth rate in prawns. Prawn head oil was found to contain polyunsaturated fatty acids essential for crustaceans (Joseph and Meyers, 1975). Joseph and Williams (1975) considered it as potential additive in the feeds of marine animals. Sandifer and Joseph (1976) found that waste shrimp heads of P. setiferus to be a good source of fatty acid and pigments in the diet of fresh water prawn Macrobrachium rosenbergii. Pascual and Destajo (1978) reported that shrimp head meal is one of the most promising protein source in the diet of P. monodon. However the same authors observed slow growth and survival of post-larvae of P. monodon fed with diet prepared exclusively from shrimp head meal and concluded that a diet prepared from shrimp head alone is not sufficient to produce good growth and survival. Prawn waste was used in feeds for culturing prawns in grow-out ponds (Mohamed et al. 1983; Ahamad Ali and Sivadas, 1983; Ahamad Ali and Mohamed; 1985). According to Vaitheswaran and Ahamad Ali (1986) growth promoting effect of shrimp head meal may be due to the presence of higher levels of calcium, phosphorus and chitin present in it.

Fish meal has also been reported to be a good source of protein with essential amino acids and has high biological value. Composition and quality of fish meal varies according to the raw materials used for preparing it. Deshimaru and Shigueno (1972) observed that diets prepared with fish meal were inferior to short necked clam for P. japonicus. They also found that the aminoacid composition of fish meal is not similar to that of the prawn <u>P. japonicus</u>. Colvin (1976) and Ahamad Ali (1982a) obtained poor results with fish meal based diets in <u>P. indicus</u>. Colvin (1976) suggested that relative deficiency of amino acids tyrosine and phenyl alanine in the fish meal may be the reason for the relatively poor performance of the prawn fed on fish meal based diets.

Shigueno <u>et al.</u> (1972) reported higher growth rates in <u>P. japonicus</u> fed with squid meal as protein source. In many studies squid meal was used as protein source because of its high content of argenine (Deshimaru and Shigueno, 1972; Kittaka, 1976; Fenucci and Zein-Eldin, 1976). Diets based on blood meal produced poor growth rates in <u>P. aztecus</u> (Colvin and Brand, 1977). However higher growth rates and conversion efficiency were obtained for prawn when slaughter house products (beef, liver) and poultry byproducts were incorporated in the diet (Goswami and Goswami, 1979).

2.4.3 Mixed protein sources

A mixture of two or more protein sources invariably show better growth than single protein source (Deshimaru and Shigueno, 1972; Conklin <u>et al.</u>, 1977). According to New (1976) relatively higher amount of animal proteins than plant protein sources gave better results in the mixed diet. The improved performance of mixed diet is mainly because of the fact that neither animal protein source nor plant protein source can provide all the essential amino acids in adequate levels. While the animal protein sources are deficient in sulphur containing amino acids, the plant proteins are deficient in lysine. The deficiency may be overcome by mixing of both the sources of protein
(Shigueno, 1972). Balazs et al. (1974) reported better growth rate in M. rosenbergii with a mixture of soyabean meal and tuna meal compared to soyabean or tuna meal used individually. New (1976) also reported better growth performance in M. rosenbergii using mixture of two or more portein sources than when used individually. Zein-Eldin and Corliss (1976) reported that in the mixed diet, animal and plant source ingredients are to be included in correct proportions to obtain better growth and survival of penaeid prawn, since interactions of various dietary components affect guality or palatability of the feed. Nelson et al. (1977) showed that the assimilation rates of juvenile prawn M. rosenbergii fed on mixed diet were low compared to that based on animal source, but higher than prawns fed on plany based diet only. Boghen and Castell (1980) reported that mixture of shrimp meal and fish meal (marine protein sources) were found to cover the protein needs of juvenile lobsters. Chen et al. (1985) observed improved performance of feed containing a mixture of animal protein source and plant protein source in P. setiferus and P. vannamei. Gopal (1986) also reported higher growth rates in P. indicus juveniles fed on diets containing both animal and plant protein sources than when they were used individually. Pascual (1988) reported higher growth rate in P. monodon juveniles when 10% Ipil - ipil leaf (Leucaena leucocephala) meal was incorporated in a diet containing animal protein source. Similar result was also reported when 35 to 45% soyabean meal was incorporated in a diet containing only animal protein source (Pascual, 1988).

2.4.4 Single cell protein sources

Single cell protein sources include a wide range of algae, fungi (including

yeast) and bacteria, which are produced by fermentation process, for use in an animal feed. By far, the greatest research efforts has been centred on the use of marine yeast SCP for feeding aquatic organisms. The discovery of marine yeast goes back to 1894, when Fisher separated red and white yeast from the Atlantic Ocean and identified them as Torula sp. and Following Fisher's discovery, many other workers such Mycoderma sp. as Hunter (1920), Bhat and Kachwalla, (1955); Suehiro, (1960) and Uden and Fell (1968) isolated marine yeast from different sources, Viz. sea water, marine deposits, seaweeds etc. In 1971, Kawano and Ohsawa started mass culture of marine strains of Saccharomyces sp. and tested its practical The utilization of marine yeast for feeding applications in mariculture. the larvae of P. japonicus has been demonstrated by Furukawa (1972), Furukawa and Hidaka (1973) and Furukawa et al (1973). Tiews et al. (1979) reported that the alkane yeast (Candida lipolitica) was found to produce equivalent growth to fish meal based ration in rainbow trout. But Atack and Matty (1979) found reduced weight gain and feed efficiency for alkane yeast compared to fish meal ration in rainbow trout. Nevertheless, in practice alkane yeast has been successfully incorporated in salmonid rations replacing upto 25-50% of the fish meal component with no loss in growth or feed efficiency (Tiews et al., 1979; Beck et al., 1979; Mahnken, et al., 1980; Spinelli et al., 1979). A combination of Turulopsis utilis and Endomycopsis fubuliger (Symba yeast) and the mould Pekilomyces varioti has also been successfully used to replace 50% of the fish meal protein in the diet of Atlantic Salmon (Bergstorm, 1979).

ي مو

Similar results have also been obtained with bacterial SCP and in particular the bacterium Methylophilus methylotrophus indicating that methanol

bacteria SCP can replace upto 75% of the fish meal protein in salmonid ration (Beck et al., 1979; Spinelli et al., 1979; Tacon et al., 1983) and upto 50% of the fish meal protein in a tilapia production diet (Viola and Atack et al. (1979) reported that bacterial SCP was found Arieli, 1984). to have higher nutritive value for common carp than alkane yeast SCP, when used as sole source of dietary proteins. Despite the common use of unicellular algae and yeast SCP as a live food organism for a variety of fish and crustacean larvae (Appelbaum, 1979; Watanabe et al., 1983) respectively, few studies have been reported on the direct use of dried algal meal in compounded feeds of fish and prawn (Stanley In general, dried algae SCP has been found to have and Jones, 1976). a lower food value for fish than either yeast SCP, bacterial SCP or fish meal (Atack and Matty, 1979). However, studies of Appler and Jauncey (1983) with Oreochromis nilotica and Hepher et al. (1979) with common carp indicate that certain dried algal meals may offer particular promise as potential dietary replacement for fish meal within practical food rations.

2.5 Oxygen consumption, Ammonia excretion and O: N ratios

Determination of metabolic rates by measuring oxygen consumption is of prime importance in quantifying the energy expenditure of an animal. Oxygen consumption of crustaceans has been studied by several workers (Subrahmanyam, 1957 & 1962; Rao, 1958; Kutty, 1967 and Kutty <u>et al.</u>, 1971). Laxminarayana and Kutty (1982) reported reduced oxygen consumption under hopoxic conditions.

Ammonia excretion rates in prawns were also studied by many workers

23

(Wickens, 1976; Nelson <u>et al.</u>, 1977; Stern and Cohen, 1982). Wickens (1976) , reported an ammonia excretion rate of 0.25 to 0.85 mg N/g/day for juvenile <u>M. rosenbergii</u>. Seven fold increase in ammonia excretion rate was found in heavily fed prawn than starved ones (Nelson <u>et al.</u>, 1977). Stern and Cohen (1982) reported an increased ammonia excretion during intermoult stages than premoult to moult stages. Gopal (1986) reported less ammonia excretion rate for <u>P. indicus</u> juveniles fed with animal protein sources than plant protein sources.

Oxygen to nitrogen ratios have been used as an index of the energy substrate utilization by many workers (Bayne and Scallad, 1977; Cupuzzo and Lancaster, 1979; Ragnault, 1981). Capuzzo and Lancaster (1981) reported decreased O : N ration in <u>Homarus americanus</u> which they attributed to increased protein catabolism. Regnault (1981) observed a reduction in O : N ratios in <u>Crangon crangon</u> when it is subjected to continued exposure to stress conditions. Seasonal variations in O : N ratios in <u>P. varians</u> have been indicated by Snow and Williams (1971), who reported lower values in winter and higher values in summer.

2.6 Ration size and feeding frequency

The ration size and the frequency with which animals consume feeds have been shown to have substantial effects on their metabolism (Cohen <u>et al.</u>, 1963). It is a common practice in hatcheries to vary the feeding regime to improve the growth and survival rates of the larvae (Ishiwata, 1969; Kono and Nose, 1971).

24

The quantity of feed offered to an animal is generally based on the body weight and ranges from 5 to 100% dry diet of wet body weight depending on the size of the animal (Subrahmanyam and Oppenhemier, 1970; Venketa-ramiah <u>et al.</u>, 1972). In nutritional studies it is important and essential to ensure that the food is always available for feeding <u>ad libitum</u>. However, feeding level should be regulated according to the consumption and the diet left over. Feeding animals in divided doses twice or thrice a day was found to contribute towards better growth and conversion efficiencies than feeding the entire dose once in a day (Primavera <u>et al.</u>, 1979; Chua and Teng, 1982; Cuzon <u>et al.</u>, 1982).

In intensive monoculture farming systems of shrimp and other crustaceans in controlled tanks, application of optimum ration and feeding frequency have much significance both for improving production and reducing the cost of production. If the feeding frequency is restricted to once daily, the left over feed disintegrates, microorganisms attack the sedimented, suspended and dissolved components which result in general fouling. То prevent these problems, the culturists increase the frequency of daily feeding to four or more meals and reduce the quantity per meal (Sedgwick, 1979). Frequent feeding has been reported to improve the growth of fish (Kono and Nose, 1971; Andrews and Page, 1975; Grayton and Beamish, 1977; Chua and Teng, 1978; Arunachalam and Reddy, 1981; Sampath, 1984) and prawns (Sedgwick, 1979; Marian et al., 1987; Sampath and Srithar, 1987). Marian et al. (1987) reported three meals a day as optimum for juvenile Macrobrachium Sampath and Srithar (1987) report that in P. monodon rate of lamerei. feeding, absorption and production increased as frequency of feeding was

raised from once in five days to twice a day. However increasing the frequency of feeding beyond a level may not be economical.

According to Sick and Baptist (1973), factors such as age, and size of the animal, environmental parameters such as salinity, oxygen, temperature and pH of the water are known to influence the food consumption. They reported that consumption rates of <u>P. setiferus</u> were directly proportional to the animal size and length of exposure to any particular feed. Similar observations were also reported in P. duorarum (Sick et al., 1973).

2.7 Water stability of the artificial feeds

As the supplementary feed has to be provided in the water column to the aquatic animal, its water stability plays a major role in its performance. The problem of water stability for shrimp feed was first reported by Forster and Beard in 1969. Hastings <u>et al.</u> (1971) demonstrated that standard hard pellets lost 10% of their formulated feed stuff every 10 minutes after immersion in moving water. The physical instability of feed pellets and leaching out of specific hydrosoluble nutrients are serious problems in crustacean cultures since, most cultured species are demersal, continuous feeders and grasp feed pellets with pincer like appendages and mastigate externally (Forster, 1971; Zein-Eldin and Meyers, 1973; Pravasoli, 1976).

Water stability of crustacean diets using different binding materials have been studied by many workers (Meyers <u>et al.</u>, 1972; Meyers and Zein-Eldin, 1972; Balazs <u>et al.</u>, 1973; Meyers and Brand, 1975; Meyers, 1980). Prominent binding materials used in the prawn feeds are agar agar, alginates (sodium) gelatin, gums, carboxymethyl cellulose, polyvinyl alcohol, Carrageanan (polysaccharide), zein (corn protein) and starch (Kanazawa et al., 1970; Forster, 1971; Grajcer and Neal, 1972; Meyers et al., 1972; Sick et al., 1972; Forster and Beard, 1973; Balazs et al., 1973; Sick and Harris, 1974). Selection of binding agent has to be done carefully as some of the binders are very expensive and can considerably enhance the cost of the final Natural feed ingredients such as wheat gluten, rice flour and tapioca feed. are also used as binders besides being feed components. While tapioca which contains more than 70% starch is a good source of carbohydrate in the feed, it is also found to be a potential binding agent for prawn feed (Ahamad Ali, 1986). According to him, feed pellets prepared with 20% topioca were stable under water for more than 6 hours. Its binding quality compared well with the binding quality of agar agar, sodium alginate, and polyvinyl alcohol and was superior to that of pure starch.

Ingredient composition, nature of ingredient, type of processing and moisture content are known to influence feed stability (Hastings, 1971; Kainz, 1977). According to Stivers (1971), the degree of stability is dependent on the gelatinization of starch content of the feed during cooking. Hastings (1971), has stated that higher fat content affects gelatinization, thereby reducing the stability of the feed. Jayaram and Shetty (1981), are of opinion that the degree of stability depends on the gelatinisable material present in the feed. It was reported that grinding raw materials of the feed to about 200 microns has resulted in increased water stability of the pellets, enhanced digestability and best food conversion ratio in the prawn <u>P. indicus</u> (Rani, 1984).

Better stability of the prawn feeds is always desirable to improve their utilization, reducing the quantity of feed to be supplied to the prawn as well as reducing the cost of operation. But too much stability of the pellets is also undesirable, since the nutrients may get tied up so tightly that they become unavailable to the organism in addition to the higher cost of such feed (Balazs <u>et al.</u>, 1973).

2.8 Keeping quality of artificial diets

The shelf life of artificial shrimp feeds are dependent on the type of processing, storage, temperature and moisture content of the diet (Hastings, 1971; Hilton <u>et al.</u>, 1977). During prolonged and improper storage, adverse physical conditions (moisture, heat, light) and microorganisms (mould, bacteria, yeast) can cause deterioration of feed quality, resulting in decreased palatability and nutritive value including deterioration of amino acid (Chow, 1980).

A good quality feed is one which is able to maintain its nutritional status for a few weeks of storage. Fowler and Banks (1967) have found no alterations in the nutritional status of the pellets stored at room temperature for a few weeks, but storage for greater periods had deleterious effect on the growth performance of fish. Jayaram and Shetty (1980) reported increase in moisture content of feed after 3 months storage period and attributed it to the presence of hygroscopic ingredients in the feeds, and also difference in the porosity of feed. The percentage decrease in crude protein and crude fat during storage period have been reported by Jayaram and Shetty (1980) and Venugopal and Keshavanath (1984). The reason for this decrease in crude protein is due to an increase in moisture level which would have facilitated the breakdown of proteins as well as the degree of unsaturated fatty acids in the feed (Jayaram and Shetty, 1980). The rate of oxidation of fat is greatly influenced by the storage temperature and rise of 10°C approximately doubles the rate (Kulikov, 1978). Oxidation of fat gives rise to a feed stuff of lower biological value (Rumsey, 1980), that may cause a reduction in growth of the animal fed on that diet (Stuart et al., 1985). The use of deteriorated feeds also can result in increased disease outbreaks such as lipoid liver degeneration (Roberts, 1978). The percentage decrease on the water stability of the feeds stored for 3 months have also been reported by Venugopal and Keshavananth (1984). Cho et al. (1985) reported that during storage feed quality diminishes due to waste, chemical deterioration and infestation by microbes or insects. Proper storage of feeds in air tight containers can reduce the problems to some extend.

Oxidation can be reduced by lowering the storage temperature and controlling storage conditions (Kulikov, 1978). Hardy (1980) reported that rate of oxidation of the feed can also be reduced by reducing the temperature and oxygen levels during storage. Natural antioxidants such as tocopherol, chemical antioxidants like butylated hydroxy anizole (BHA), and butylated hydroxy toluene (BHT) can be used to prevent lipid oxidation in feeds. Fungal growth in feed can be prevented by the use of potassium metabisulphite, sorbic acid, benzoic acid, and propionic acid.

Dela Cruz, <u>et al.</u> (1989) recomended that feeds should not be stored for more than fifteen days during summer months, when the temperature ranges from $28 - 31^{\circ}$ C. Feeds can be stored for upto 30 - 35 days during cooler months (10 - 20°C). They also suggested that a periodic check of peroxide levels should be done inorder to detect early stage of feed deterioration.

III. MATERIALS AND METHODS

III MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experiments have been conducted to evaluate the efficiency and keeping quality of diets based on different protein sources (animal, plant and single cell protein) in the juveniles of <u>P. monodon</u>. The optimum food ration and feeding frequency of the selected diet, which gave best growth performance in the first experiment were also studied.

3.1 Preparation of the Feed

3.1.1 Feed ingredients

Animal, plant and single cell protein sources used for the experiment were as follows:

- Animal origin : clam meal, prawn meal and slaughter house waste meal*
- Plant origin : soyabean meal
- Single cell origin : marine yeast

Other ingredients used in the pelleted feeds were ground nut oil cake, rice bran, tapioca powder, sardine oil and mineral mix.

Prawn meal, clam meal, and slaughter house waste meal were prepared by sundrying and powdering them. The prawn meal was prepared from metapenaeid prawn (<u>M. dobsoni</u>) obtained from the farm of the College of Fisheries, whereas the clam meat and slaughter house waste were obtained from the local market. Marine yeast was obtained from the Microbiology lab

* Prepared from Beef intestine, stomach, liver, discarded meat etc.

of the Processing Department, College of Fisheries and sardine oil obtained from Fishery Byproduct Section, CIFT.* Minerals were supplemented through salt mixture USP IX (SISCO RESEARCH LABORATORIES PVT LTD, BOMBAY). All the ingredients were finely powdered and passed through a 500 µm mesh and stored in polythene bags.

3.1.2 Proximate composition of Feed ingredients

Proximate composition of all the feed ingredients was analysed prior to feed formulation.

The moisture level was estimated by heating the sample to 105° C for 30 minutes and then drying at 65° C till a constant weight was obtained, following the method of Boyd (1979). The crude protein content was estimated by Microkjeldahl's method (AOAC, 1975). The nitrogen content was multiplied by the factor 6.25, to arrive at crude protein content. Crude fat was extracted using petroleum ether (B.P. 40°C - 60°C) in a Soxhlet extraction apparatus for 16 hrs. The crude fibre content was estimated by the method of Pearson (1976), while ash content was determined by burning the sample at 550°C \pm 10°C for 6 hrs in a muffle furnace. The carbohydrate content (nitrogen free extract, NFE) was found out by Hastings (1976) difference method.

NFE = '100 - (% crude protein on dry weight basis + % crude fat on dry weight basis + % crude fibre on dry weight basis + % ash).

3.1.3 Formulation and Processing of test diets

Five types of pelleted feeds were formulated maintaining their protein * Central Institute of Fisheries Technology.

level at 40%. They were:

- 1. CM (clam meal as the major protein source)
- 2. PM (prawn meal as the major protein source)
- 3. SW (Slaughter house waste meal as the major protein source)
- 4. SM (soyabean meal as the major protein source) and
- 5. MY (marine yeast, as the major protein source).

Table 1 gives the proportion of ingredients used for the preparation of different pelleted feeds and nutrient composition of the diets. Each type of pelleted feed was prepared separately by mixing the required quantity The mixture was hand kneaded with of ingredients. sufficient water (1 : 1.25 W/V) to get a soft dough. The dough was cooked for 30 minutes in an autoclave at ambient pressure. The cooked dough was cooled, salt mixture and sardine oil were then added, mixed, pelletized and dried at 60°C overnight in a hot air oven to a moisture level < 10%. The pellets were packed separately in plastic bags and stored free from moisture and sunlight.

3.1.4 Proximate composition of formulated feeds

The proximate analysis of the formulated feeds were carried out immediately after their preparation and again at the end of 4 month's storage period. Methodology employed was the same as that of ingredients. Calcium and phosphorus content of the pelleted feeds were analysed by the method of AOAC (1970).

Table	1.	Proportion of different ingredients used in the preparation of pelleted feeds.

Ingredients	СМ	РМ	SW	SM	MY
		·			
Clam meal	. 62	-	-	-	-
Prawn meal	-	65	-	-	-
ilaughter house waste meal	-	-	59	-	-
oyabean meal	-	-	-	67	-
arine yeast	-	-	-	-	72
roundnut oil cake	15	1 <i>5</i>	15	1 <i>5</i>	1 <i>5</i>
ice bran	10	10	10	10	5
pioca Powder	11	8	14	6	6
ardine oil	1	1	1	1	1
lineral mix*	1	1	1	1	1
Total	1.00	100	100	100	100

* Mineral mix (Salt mixture USP IX - SISCO Research Lab. Pvt. Ltd. Bombay)

The energy value of each feed was found out by multiplying by factors 9.46 for fat, 4.18 for carbohydrate, and 4.32 for proteins (Bages and Sloane, 1981). The energy values were denoted as K. Calories/g.

3.2 Sinking rate of pelleted feeds

The sinking rate of all pelleted feeds in dry conditions was determined in an aquarium tank measuring $1.25 \times 0.5 \times 0.5$ m, soon after feed preparation and also after 4 months storage period. Ten uniform sized pellets of about 1 cm were gently dropped into the aquarium and the time taken by them to traverse the water column was recorded using a stop watch. The average time taken by each type of pellet was found out separately and average sinking rate of feeds were expressed in cm/sec.

3.3 Water stability of pelleted feeds

Water stability (% dry matter obtained after exposing the pellets in water for 3 hrs) was determined by the method of Jayaram and Shetty (1981).

3.4 Total heterotrophic bacteria and fungi

Total viable bacterial count was determined following standard pour plate method using the plate, count agar (Tryptone 0.5%, Yeast extract 0.25%, Dextrose 0.1%, Agar 1.5%, pH 7 \pm 0.2). Total viable fungal count was taken in the same way using sabaraud dextrose agar (Mycological Peptone - 1%, Dextrose - 4%, Agar - 1.5%, pH - 5.6 \pm 0.2).

3.5 Keeping quality of pelleted feeds

Before and after storage (4 months), samples from each type of feed were analysed for proximate composition, water stability, sinking rate, total bacterial count and total fungal count.

3.6 Experimental animals

Post larvae of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> belonging to the same brood stock were obtained from the Regional Shrimp hatchery at Azhicode and transported in polythene bags of 10 litre capacity half filled with fresh filtered sea water of 25 ppt salinity under oxygen packing. The postlarvae were then introduced into cement cisterns of 350 litre capacity at the rate of 100 to 150 animals per tank. The water salinity in these cisterns were maintained at 20 ppt. The postlarvae were fed with compounded pellet diets to obtain desired early juveniles (Average weight about 200 mg) for experimentation.

3.7 Experimental tanks and water management

Experiments were carried out in 50 litre plastic tanks (60 \times 40 \times 40 cm), in which aeration was provided with the help of an air compressor using air stones.

Brackish water with salinity of 25 ppt collected from the backwater near College campus, was filtered twice, using bolting silk and filled in cement cisterns. The salinity of the water was then adjusted to 20% by diluting with fresh water and was used for rearing animals in feeding experiments. One third of the water was replaced daily by water of the same salinity, while complete water was replaced in the tanks once in a week.

3.8 Study to evaluate the protein source

Juvenile: prawns of mean total length $(3.23 \pm 0.25 \text{ cm})$ and weight $(0.195 \pm 0.02 \text{ gms})$ were used for the experimental work. The prawns were allowed to starve for 24 hours prior to the experiment. The total length of apparently healthy animals were measured to the nearest centimetre from tip of rostrum to the tip of telson. The animals were then blotted dry carefully between the folds of filter paper weighed in an electronic balance to the nearest milligram and were transferred to tanks. Before starting the experiment about 15 prawns were measured, weighed and left for drying in an oven at 40°C for 48 hrs. Dried prawns were then weighed and the body protein content of these were analysed (AOAC, 1975).

Fifteen numbers of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles were introduced in each tank. For each treatment of feed four replicates were maintained. Hence 60 animals were used for each treatment. The duration of the experiment was for a period of 42 days.

The juvenile prawns were fed with the experimental diets <u>ad libitum</u> twice daily in petri dishes kept at the bottom of the tanks as suggested by Subramanyam and Oppenheimer (1970). Feeding was done in the morning and evening. Before feeding, left over feed was recovered and adhering salt was washed gently and dried in an oven at 60°C to constant weight.

3.8.1 Determination of digestability coefficient

The animals were allowed to fully acclimatize to the diet, and no faeces were analysed during the first week, after that, faeces were collected for a period of 20 days by slow siphoning of the water through a narrow polythene tube and collected on a bolting silk. The faecal matter were washed in distilled water to remove adhering salt, then transferred to pre-weighed beaker and weighed after drying in an oven at 60°C to constant weight. The dry faeces were homogenized in a mortar and used for protein estimation (AOAC, 1975).

3.8.2 Monitoring of Physico-Chemical parameters of water

Water temperature was recorded twice daily, morning at 8 A.M. and evening at 6 P.M., using graduated mercury thermometer with an accuracy of 0.1°C. The dissolved oxygen content in water samples was determined daily employing Winkler's method (Strickland and Parsons, 1972). Salinity of water in the experimental tanks was determined thrice a week using refractometer. pH of the water from the experimental tanks was determined thrice a week using digital pH meter with an accuracy of 0.01 (ELICO - Model L1-122).

3.8.3 Recording of the data

3.8.3.1 Survival rate

The percentage survival was determined as follows:

Percentage survival = Initial number - Final number x 100

3.8.3.2 Growth.

Growth of the animal in length and weight was calculated by the following formula.

Growth % = $\frac{\text{Final measurement} - \text{Initial measurement}}{\text{Initial measurement}} \times 100$

3.8.3.3 Specific growth rate

SGR =
$$\frac{\log_e w_2 - \log_e w_1}{t_2 - t_1} \times 100$$

Where w_1 = weight at time t_1

 w_2 = weight at time t_2

The calculated value gives the average percentage increase in body weight per day over 42 days.

1

3.8.3.4 Food conversion_ratio (FCR)

FCR of the diet was calculated using increase in live weight and food consumed by the following formula.

 $ECR = \frac{Av. wt. of food consumed in dry weight}{Av. live weight gain}$

3.8.3.5 Protein efficiency ratio (PER)

PER was calculated by the formula

$$PER = \frac{Av. \ live \ weight \ gain}{Av. \ protein \ consumed}$$

3.8.3.6 Protein digestability coefficient

 $\frac{\text{Protein digested}}{\text{Protein ingested}} \times 100 \qquad \frac{[(F \times P) - (E \times Q)]}{(F \times P)}$

F = Food consumed, E = Excreta produced, P = Protein in feed, Q = Protein in excreta

3.8.4 Biochemical composition of carcass

On termination of the experiment, the carcass of the prawn was analysed for moisture, crude protein crude fat, ash, carbohydrate, calcium and phosphorus, following the standard procedures mentioned earlier, inorder to evaluate the best protein source.

3.8.5 Estimation of oxygen : nitrogen ratios

Intermoult prawns fed for 42 days, on different diets were selected in triplicates from each of the treatments for experimental study. The prawns were acclimated in the respirometer chamber for one hour before readings were taken and the chamber was flushed with the respective growth media throughout the period of equilibration. At the beginning of each experiment water sample was drawn for estimation of dissolved oxygen and then the respirometer was closed. All the respirometers were placed in a water bath and maintained at a temperature 30 \pm 1°C. After one hour, water sample was drawn for oxygen estimation. The difference was considered to be the oxygen consumed by animal during the period of experi-After completion of the experiment, the prawns were blotted dry ment. with filter paper and weighed. The results are expressed in mg O_2/hr and the metabolic rates (mg O2/g/hr) were also calculated.

Ammonia excretion was determined using water samples drawn from

the respirometer chamber prior to and after respirometry. The results are expressed as mg NH_3 - N/g/hr. All the readings were taken during the dark phase of photoperiod in order to assure uniformity of experimental conditions between each runs.

Using oxygen consumption and ammonia excretion rates O : N ratios of individual prawn fed with different protein sources were estimated following the method given by Bayne et al., 1985.

3.9 Study to determine the optimum food ration

Optimum food ration for the selected diet, which gave the best growth performance and conversion efficiency in the first experiment was determined. Fifteen numbers of the juveniles of <u>P. monodon</u> (Av. length 3.3 ± 0.01 cms, Av. wt. 0.209 \pm 0.06 g) were introduced in each experimental tank. Food rations with 0, 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18 and 21 percentages of the body weight were given to the prawns. Each treatment had 3 replications. The experiment was conducted for a period of 21 days and specific growth rate, survival (%) and food consumption rate were determined.

3.10 Study to determine optimum feeding frequency

Optimum feeding frequency of the selected diet was determined as the third part of the study. Here also 15 numbers of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles (Av. length 3.2 ± 0.02 cms, Av. wt. 0.214 ± 0.02 gms) were introduced in each tank. The prawns were fed on the selected diet at the rate of 15% of the body weight which was the maximum ration obtained in the second experiment at different frequencies viz. Once a day

a) day alone (0800 hrs)

b) Night alone (2000 hrs)

Twice a day

c) day and night (0800 hrs and 2000 hrs)

d) day and noon (0800 hrs and 1400 hrs)

e) Noon and inight (1400 hrs and 2000 hrs)

Thrice a day

f) Morning, noon and night (0800 hrs, 1400 hrs & 2000 hrs)

Four times a day

g) 0800 hrs, 1100 hrs, 1400 hrs, 1700 hrs & 2000 hrs.

The experiment was conducted for a period of 28 days and observations on specific growth rate, food consumption and survival were determined.

3.11 Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance (Snedecor and Cochran, 1968) was carried out for the collected data. Ratios and percentage values (x) were transformed into Arc sin values (Sin⁻¹/ $\frac{x}{100}$) for analysis. **IV. RESULTS**

,

•

.

•

•

.

.

.

IV RESULTS

4.1 Proximate Composition of Feed Ingredients and Formulated Feeds

4.1.1 Feed Ingredients

The proximate composition of the feed ingredients used in the formulation of the experimental diets is shown in Table 2.

The moisture content of the ingredients viz, clam meal, prawn meal, slaughter house waste meal, soybean meal, marine yeast, ground nut oil cake, ranged from 4.04 - 13.68%, the maximum in marine yeast (13.68%) and minimum in soybean (4.04%).

The highest crude protein content was recorded in slaughter house waste meal (56.36%) while it was lowest in the case of tapioca powder (7.1%). The protein percentage of other ingredients viz. clam meal, prawn meal, soybean meal, marine yeast, ground nut oil cake and rice bran were 53.5%, 50.8%, 48.8%, 46.9%, 32.9% and 13.9% respectively.

The crude fat content of the ingredients ranged from 0.75% (rice bran) to 12.6% (slaughter house waste meal). Tapioca powder contained the highest nitrogen free extract (76.55%), whereas prawn meal had the least amount (1.2%). The highest value of crude fibre (21.42%) was recorded in rice bran, while the lowest value (0.51%) was observed in clam meal. The percentage of ash varied from 1.45% to 36.15%, the highest being in rice bran and lowest in tapioca flour.

ران

Ingredients	Moisture (%)	Crude Protein (%)	Crude fat (%)	Crude fibre (%)	Carbohydrate (N - free extract) (%)	Ash (%)
Clam meal	8.79	53.5	10.8	0.51	16.8	9.6
Prawn meal	11.50	50.8	9.7	3.2	5.6	19.2
Slaughter house waste meal	12.06	56.36	12.6	0.8	1.2	16.98
Soyabean meal	4.04	48.8	4.32	4.06	30.22	8.56
Marine yeast	13.68	46.9	2.4	0.6	25.23	11.19
Groundnut oil cake	10.12	32.9	7.56	6.12	36.27	7.03
Rice bran	7,.32	13.9	0.75	21.42	20.46	36.15
Tapioca	10.04	7.1	0.80	4.06	76.55	1.45

.

Table 2. Proximate composition of the ingredients used in feed formulation

4.1.2 Formulated Pelleted Feeds

4.1.2.1 Initial Analysis

Data on the proximate composition of all the formulated feeds are presented in Table 3. The moisture content of the five feeds ranged between 7.86 and 9.82% while the crude protein content was between 39.76% (MY) and 40.30% (SW). The percentage of nitrogen free extract was the highest in the pellet SM (29.38%) and lowest in the pellet PM (19.80%). The crude fibre content ranged from 3.76% (MY) to 7.02% (SM) and ash content between 10.42% (SM) and 15.43% (PM). The calcium content of the pelleted feeds ranged between 298.06 mg % (SM) and 392.26 mg % (MY), while the range of phosphorus was found to be 530.16 mg % (SM) and 844.20 mg % (MY). The caloric values of the five test diets were almost similar, ranging from 3.34 to 3.72 K.cal/g. Hence the test diets were more or less isocaloric and isonitrogenous.

4.1.2.2 Analysis after Storage

The data of the experiment to study the effect of storage on the keeping quality of pelleted feeds after 4 months of storage are presented in Table 4.

The moisture content of the test diets ranged from 9.06 to 13.32%, the highest being in MY while the lowest in SM respectively. The crude protein content ranged between 35.56 (MY) to 37.57% (SM). The highest value of crude fat was observed in pellet SW (8.71%) and the lowest in the pellet MY (3.90%). The values of crude fibre content were 4.12, 5.86, 4.07, 6.16 and 3.36% for pellets CM, PM, SW, SM and MY respectively.

Parameters*	Diets								
	СМ	PM	SW	SM	MY				
Noisture (%)	8.32	9.74	9.20	7.86	9.82				
Crude protein (%)	40.24	40.01	40.30	40.17	39.76				
Crude fat (%)	8.99	8.56	9.72	5.15	4.76				
Crude fibre (%)	4.82	6.46	4.89	7.02	3.76				
Cabohydrate (%) N – free extract)	27.07	19.80	21.57	29.38	28.09				
Ash (%)	10.56	15.43	14.32	10.42	13.61				
Calcium (mg %)	324.60	386.07	346.67	298.06	392.26				
Phosphorus (mg %)	616.93	826.42	779.93	530.16	844.20				
Caloric value K. calories/g)	3.72	3.37	3.56	3.45	3.34				

Table 3. Proximate composition of formulated feeds

* Average of four values

•

The ash content was maximum in pellets PM (14.08%) while it was minimum in pellet SM (9.56%). The nitrogen free extract ranged from 23.82% to 32.7%; the highest and the lowest values being in pellets PM and SM respectively.

4.2 Sinking Rate of Pellets

Pellet SM exhibited the highest sinking rate (4.62 cm/sec) while lower rates were observed in the case of PM and MY (Table 4). The average sinking rate of pellet CM, was 4.82 cm/sec and that of SW was 5.71 cm/sec.

Following storage, an increase in average sinking rate was observed in all feeds. The highest values was recorded in the case of MY (7.96 cm/sec). It was followed by pellet PM and SW respectively, the values being 6.82 cm/sec and 6.41 cm/sec. The lowest value was recorded in the case of pellet SM (5.02 cm/sec).

4.3 Water Stability

The results of the stability test for different pellets are shown in Table 4. The most stable feed at the end of three hours was pellet SM (91.13%), followed by CM (87.26%) and SW (83.02%). The lowest stability was observed for the pellet MY (78.94%).

A decrease in average stability in all the feeds was seen after four months of storage (Table 4). The decrease in stability was maximum (-4.28%) in the case of pellet MY, and minimum (-2.22%) in pellet SM.

Parameters*	Fresh	4 mo-	Perce- nt di- ffere- nce			Percent di- ffere- nce	Fresh		Percent nt dif fere- nce			Perce- nt di- ffere- nce	Fresh	After 4 mo- nths sto- rage	Percent difference
Average sinking rate cm/sec	4.82	5.44	-	5.85	6.82	-	5.71	6.41	-	4.62	5.02	-	6.94	7.86	-
Stability (%)	87.26	85.06	2.52	80.26	77.66	3.24	83.02	80.27	3.31	91.23	89.11	2.22	78.94	75.56	4.28
Moisture (%)	8.32	10.97	31.85	9.74	11.39	16.94	9.20	12.20	32.61	7.86	9.06	15.27	9.82	13.32	35.64
Crude protein (%)	40.24	36.99	8.08	40.01	37.05	7.40	40.30	36.68	8.98	40.17	37.57	6.47	39.76	35.56	10.56
Crud fat∵)(%)	8.99	8.11	9.79	8.56	7.80	8.88	9.72	8.71	10.39	5.15	4.55	11.65	4.76	3.90	18.07
Ash (%)	10.56	9.76	7.58	15.43	14.08	8.75	14.32	13.82	3.49	10.42	9.56	4.41	13.81	13.21	4.34
Crude fibre (%)	4.82	4.12	14.52	6.46	5.86	13.45	4.89	4.07	16.77	7.02	6.16	12.25	3.76	3.36	10.64
Carbohydrate (%)	27.07	30.09	11.16	19.80	23.82	20.30	21.57	24.52	13.68	29.38	32.70	11.30	28.09	30.65	9.11
Fungal count (c.f.u/g)	0	5.2x10 ⁷	-	0	2.99x10) ⁵ _	0	3.20x10) ⁸ –	0	1.09x10	, ⁵ _	0	2.91x10 ²	9 _
Bacterial count (c.f.u./g)	1.51x	10 ⁵ 8.3	26x10 ⁶	4.05x	:10 ⁵ 6	.20x10 ⁶	⁵ 7.8x1	0 ⁵ 9.3	2x10 ⁶	2.90x1	0 ⁵ 3.15	5x10 ⁶	2.5x10	⁶ 5.10x	(10 ⁷

Table 4. Effect of storage on the keeping quality of pelleted feeds

* Average of four values

.

4.4. Total Heterotrophic Bacteria and Fungi

Viable bacterial population (c.f.u/g) in the fresh pelleted feeds ranged between 1.51×10^5 and 2.5×10^6 , the highest being recorded in pellet MY and the lowest in pellet CM respectively. No fungi could be recorded in fresh samples.

An increase in bacterial count was observed in different feeds after four months of storage. Pellet MY was found to harbour the highest bacterial population (5.1 x 10^7 c.f.u/g) and pellet CM the lowest (3.15 x 10^6 c.f.u/g). Subsequent to storage fungal populations ranging from 1.09 x 10^5 c.f.u/g to 2.91 x 10^9 c.f.u/g were recorded in pellets SM and MY respectively.

4.5 Evaluation of Relative Efficiencies of Natural protein sources

The details of various physicochemical parameters of the experimental tanks are presented below.

4.5.1 Physico-chemical Parameters

4.5.1.1 Temperature

Temperature in the experimental tanks ranged between 24.2°C to 29.8°C and average values recorded during each week are presented in Table 5.

4.5.1.2 pH

The pH of the water was found to be alkaline throughout the experiment in all the experimental tanks, its range being 7.62 to 8.40 (Table 6, Fig. 1).

Temperature (°C)	WEEKS											
	1	2	3	4	5	6						
Mean ± SD	27.37±1.49	27.13±1.13	28.16±1.06	27.32±1.45	28.07±1.52	27.46±1.16						
Range	(26.0-29.5)	(26.5-29.2)	(26.728.8)	(25.2-29.8)	(25:4-28.9)	(24.2-29.8)						

.

-

Table 5. Temperature range (in °C) of the experimental tanks during the study of protein source evaluation

.

.

freatments	WEEKS (mean ± SD)											
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6					
СМ		8.02 ± 0.53 (7.86 - 8.42)										
РМ	8.10 ± 0.16 (7.86 - 8.40)	8.01 ± 0.26 (7.72 - 8.22)				8.16 ± 0.26 (8.12 - 8.28)						
SW		7.96 ± 0.18 (7.68 - 8.12)										
SM		8.12 ± 0.23 (8.02 - 8.36)										
MY	7.90 ± 0.18 (7.80 - 8.12)	7.76 ± 0.21 (7.62 - 8.02)			7.96 ± 0.14 (7.74 - 8.20)							

Table6. Fluctuations of pH in the experimental tanks during the study of proteinsource evaluation (Range shown in parenthesis)





Ч

reatments	WEEKS (mean ± SD)											
	0	1	2	· 3	4	5	6					
СМ						6.62 ± 0.26 (6.24 - 6.82)						
РМ	5.76 ± 0.82 (4.44 - 7.22)	5.60 ± 1.20 (4.40 - 6.80)				5.89 ± 1.02 (4.60 - 7.60)						
SW						7.47 ± 0.64 (7.00 - 8.20)						
SM	6.01 ± 0.26 (5.20 - 6.48)				6.02 ± 0.25 (5.26 - 6.45)	6.12 ± 0.46 (5.36 - 6.40)	6.06 ± 0.28 (5.32 - 6.50)					
MY .	7.12 ± 0.56 . (6.72 - 7.46)				7.40 ± 0.20 (7.20 - 7.60)		7.14 ± 0.46 (6.90 - 7.36)					

Table7.Variations in dissolved oxygen content (ppm) of the experimental tanks during
the study of protein source evaluation (Range shown in parenthesis)

.

.



Fig. 2.

54
The dissolved oxygen content of water recorded during the experimental period is shown in Table 7, Fig. 2. The average values in different treatments varied from 5.60 to 8.20 ppm.

4.5.2 Growth in relation to protein source

During the 42 days of experimental study, with five different feeds under four replication, the following observations were made.

4.5.2.1 Survival Percentage

The survival rates (%) of prawns recorded from various treatments are shown in Fig. 3. Analysis of variance of the data showed that the dietary protein sources significantly influence (P < 0.01) the survival of the prawns (ANOVA Table 1). Among the diets tested the highest survival (90%) was recorded in the prawn fed on diet containing clam meal followed by those fed on slaughter house waste meal (89%). The lowest % of survival was seen in prawns fed on diet containing soyabean meal (86%). The survival rates obtained for those fed on diet based on prawn meal are not significantly different (P > 0.01) from those based on marine yeast.

4.5.2.2 Growth

The net gain in length and wet weight of prawns and also the percentage growth are shown in Table 8, Fig. 5. Analysis of variance of the data show that the dietary protein sources significantly influence (P < 0.01) the above growth parameters (ANOVA Table 2). The prawns fed on diet containing





٠

Diets

. Diets

Fig. 3

Fig. 4

56

Analysis of variance of the data on survival rate of <u>P</u>. <u>monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom	Degrees of Sum of Mean sum freedom squares of squares			F Value
Between diets	4	95.46	23.86	13.81**	
Error	15	1.72	28		
Total	19	121.38			
Standard error o	of transformed t	reatment means	=	0.929	
Critical differen	се		=	2.739	
Comparison of t	ransformed mea	ns based on crit	ical differend	ce	
Diets	CM	A SW	РМ	MY	SM
Transformed mean values	71	.57 70.63	68.86	68.86	68.03

Underscored means are not significantly different

** Significant at 1% level.

clam meal (CM) recorded the highest net gain in length (3.89 cm) among the various protein sources tested, while the lowest gain in length was observed in diet containing soybean meal (2.275). Gain in lengths recorded for prawns fed on diet based on slaughter house waste (SW) and marine yeast (MY) was 3.45 cm and 3.18 cm respectively. The net gain in weight of prawns fed on diets with plant protein source (SM) was found to be significantly less than (P<0.01) those fed on diets based on animal protein sources (CM, PM and SW) or single cell protein source (MY) [ANOVA Table 2]. Among the feeds tested, diet based on clam meal (CM) gave the highest net gain in weight (2.035 gms) followed by diet based on slaughter house waste (1.475 gms). The net gain in weight recorded in prawns fed with prawn meal (PM) and slaughter house waste (SW) was not significantly different from each other.

4.5.2.3 Specific Growth Rate

Significant influence (P < 0.01) of dietary protein sources was observed on the specific growth rate of prawns (Table 9, Fig. 6, ANOVA Table 3). The prawns fed on clam meal based diet recorded the highest SGR (5.78%) followed by diet based on slaughter house waste (4.99%) and the lowest rate (3.63%) was recorded in those fed on diet containing soybean meal. S.G.R. values recorded in prawns fed on diets based on marine yeast and prawn meal were 4.53 and 4.34% respectively.

4.5.2.4 Food Conversion Ratio

The food conversion ratio (FCR) recorded in the study, (Table 10, Fig. 4) showed significant variation (P < 0.01) between diets from various

Table	8.	Average weight (g) and length (cm) attained by P. monodon juveniles fed on diets
		based on different protein sources for a period of 42 days (values in the parenthesis
		is the average of four values)

1 3	ngth Wei .4 0.20 .1 0.19		h Weight	Length	Weight	Length	Weight	
		2 7 0 9					weight	
	1 0.10	1.08	1.957	3.680	1.754	108.24	864.04	
CM 2 3			1.907	4.20	1.717	135.48	903.68	
د د	.6 0.2		2.479	3.6	2.246	100.00	963.95	
	.0 0.1		2.581	4.1	2.422	136.67	1523.27	
(3.	28) (0.19	6) (7.17)	(2.234)	(3.89)	(2.035)	(120.096)	(1063.74)	
	.3 0.17		1.172	2.7	0.997	81.82	569 . 71	
	.6 0.2		1.344	2.39	1.114	66.39	484.35	
3 3	.7 0.22		1.194	2.40	0.959	64.86	408.09	
	.0 0.18		1.385	3.05	1.198	101.66	640.64	
(3.	4) (0.20	7) (6.04)	(1.274)	(2.635)	(1.049)	(78.86)	(525.69)	
1 3	.5 0.2	5 6.85	1.626	3.35	1.411	95.71	656.28	
	.4 0.2		1.730	3.50	1.517	102.94	712.206	
و و	.5 0.2		1.872	3.30	1.653	94.29	754.79	
4 3			1.498	3.65	1.318	117 . 75	732.22	
(3.	38) (0.20	7) (6.83)	(1.682)	(3.45)	(1.475)	(102.67)	(713.88)	
1 3	.0 0.19	1 5.30	0.920	2.30	0.729	76.67	381.67	
	.4 0.2	7 4.90	0.742	1.50	0.525	44.11	241.94	
3 3	.0 0.16	6.20	0.718	3.20	0.549	106.67	324.85	
	.9 0.10		1.043	2.10	0.879	72.41	535.97	
(3.	08) (0.18	5) (5.35)	(0.856)	(2.275)	(0.671)	(74 . 97) [.]	(371.11)	
1 3	.0 0.17	1 5.95	1.212	2.95	1.041	98.33	608.77	****
WV 2 3	.1 0.13		1.423	3.35	1.234	108.06	652.91	
	.0 0.13		1.110	3.25	0.930	108.33	516.67	
4 3	.1 0.19	6.25	1.184	3.15	0.989	101.61	507.18	
(3.	05) (0.18	4) (6.23)	(1.232)	(3.18)	(1.067)	(104.09)	(571.38)	

Analysis of variance of the data on gain in length and weight of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources.

Source of variation	freedom	5	squares		res	
Gain in length:						
Between diets	4		6.662	1.656		11.265**
Error .	15		2.210	0.14	7	
Total	19		8.832			
Standard error o	f treatment me	eans		=	0.271	
Critical difference			,	=	0.799	
Comparison of n	neans based on	critica	al difference	:		
Diets		СМ	SW	MY	РМ	SM
Ranked means (a	cm) 3	3.89	3.45	3.18	2.65	2.28
Gain in weight						
Between diets	4		4.304	1.07	'6	26.589**
Error	15		0.607	0.04	0	
Total	19		4.911			
Standard error o	f treatment me	eans		=	0.141	
Critical differen	ce			=	0.417	
Diets		СМ	SW	MY	РМ	SM
Ranked means (g	g) 2	2.035	1.475	1.069	1.047	0.671
				•		

Underscored means are not significantly different

** Significant at 1% level.

Diets	Replication	Average initial weight (g)	Average final weight (g)	Specificagrowthorate rate (%)	Mean
- n	1	0.203	1.957	5.395	
СМ	2	0.190	1.907	5.491	5.78
	3	0.233	2.479	5.630	J.10
	4	0.159	2.581	6.635	
	1	0.175	1.172	4.527	
PM	2	0.230	1.344	4.203	4.34
	3	0.235	1.194	3.870	4.74
	4	0.187	1.385	4.767	
	 1	0.215	1.626	4.817	
C 17/	2	0.213	1.730	4.987	4.99
S₩	3	0.219	1.872	5.109	4.77
	4	0.180	1.498	5.045	
	1	0.191	0.920	3.743	
C 1 /	2	0.217	0.742	2.927	3.63
SM	3	0.169	0.718	3.444	2.02
	4	0.164	1.043	4.405	
	 1	 0 . 171	1.212		
111	2	0.189	1.423	4.807	1 52
MY	3	0.180	1.110	4.331	4.53
	4	0.195	1.184	4.294	

Table 9. Specific growth rate (%) of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources

-

-

Analysis of variance of the data on specific growth rate of \underline{P} . monodon juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean sum of squares	F Value
Between diets				
Error	15	5.732	0.382	
Total	19	23.658		
Standard error o	f transformed tr	eatment mean	s = 0.4	
Critical differen	ce		= 1.2	288
Comparison of t	ransformed mear	ns based on cri	itical difference	
Diets	C	M SW	MY PM	SM
Transformed mean values	13.	91 12.91	12.29 12.02	10.98

Underscored means are not significantly different

** Significant at 1% level







Fig. 6

63

protein: sources (ANOVA Table 4). Diets from marine yeast (MY) and soybean meal (SM) gave relatively higher values (3.26 and 3.12) than those fed with diets from animal protein sources. The FCR obtained for diets from different animal protein sources did not vary markedly and ranged from 2.18 for clam meal (CM) to 3.06 for prawn meal.

4.5.2.5 Protein Efficiency Ratio

Protein efficiency ratios recorded for different treatments showed significant variations (P < 0.01) and are given in Table 11, Fig. 7, ANOVA Table 5). Diets formulated from animal protein sources recorded high PER values compared to plant or single cell protein sources, the highest PER of 1.13 was recorded for clam meal (CM) followed by slaughter house waste meal (SM) where the PER was 0.96. However among the different diets, the lowest PER of 0.77 was recorded for marine yeast (MY).

4.5.2.6 Protein Digestability

1

Table 12 and Fig. 8 give the results of the experiment conducted to determine the protein digestability coefficient of the five formulated feeds to the prawns. Analysis of variance of the data showed significant variation (P < 0.01) between treatments (ANOVA Table 6). The protein digestability coefficient was maximum (92.22%) with pellet CM followed by the pellet SW (88.52%). The least protein digestability was observed in the case of pellet SM (84.39%) where as the pellets PM and MY recorded protein digestability of 86.54 and 86.18% respectively.

Diet	Replication	Average initial weight (g)	Average final weight (g)	Average live weight gain (g)	Av. wt. of food con- sumed (g)	Food con- version ratio	Mean
СМ	1 2 3 4	0.203 0.190 0.233 0.159	1.957 1.907 2.479 2.581	1.754 1.717 2.246 2.422	3.596 3.769 5.211 5.449	2.05 2.10 2.32 2.25	2.18
PM	1 2 3 4	0.175 0.230 0.235 0.187	1.172 1.344 1.194 1.385	0.997 1.114 0.959 1.198	3.141 3.398 2.829 3.702	3.15 3.05 2.95 3.09	3.06
5W	1 2 3 4	0.215 0.213 0.219 0.180	1.626 1.730 1.872 1.498	1.411 1.518 1.653 1.318	3.767 3.825 4.116 3.559	2.67 2.52 2.49 2.70	2.59
5М	1 2 3 4	0.191 0.217 0.169 0.164	0.920 0.742 0.718 1.043	0.729 0.525 0.549 0.879	2.275 1.606 1.724 2.777	3.12 3.06 3.14 3.16	3.12
ЛҮ	1 2 3 4	0.171 0.189 0.180 0.195	1.212 1.423 1.110 1.184	1.041 1.234 0.930 0.989	3.539 4.134 2.928 3.165	3.40 3.35 3.12 3.20	3.26

Table 10. Food conversion ratio of P. monodon juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources

Analysis of variance of the data on food conversion ratio of \underline{P} . monodon juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares		Mean sum F Valu of squares		
Between diets	4	10.096	2.52	24	76.48**	
Error	15	0.498	0.03	33		
Total	19	10.594				
	-					
Standard error of	f transformed tr	eatment means	=	0.128		
Critical difference	ce		=	0.378		
Comparison of t	ransformed mean	s based on crit	tical differen	ce		
Diets	М	Y SM	РМ	SW	СМ	

Transformed mean values 10.40 10.17 10.07 9.26 8.49

Underscored means are not significantly different

.

** Significant at 1% level.

Diets	Replication	Average initial weight (g)	Average final weight (g)	Average live wt. gain (g)	Av. wt. of food con- sumed (g)	Average protein consumed	Protein efficiency ratio	Mean
СМ	1 2 3 4	0.203 0.190 0.233 0.159	1.957 1.907 2.479 2.581	1.754 1.717 2.246 2.422	3.596 3.769 5.211 5.449	1.447 1.517 2.097 2.193	1.212 1.132 1.071 1.105	1.13
РМ	1 2 3 4	0.175 0.230 0.235 0.187	1.172 1.344 1.194 1.385	0.997 1.114 0.959 1.198	3.141 3.398 2.829 3.702	1.257 1.360 1.132 1.481	0.793 0.819 0.847 0.809	0.817
SW	1 2 3 4	0.215 0.213 0.219 0.180	1.626 1.730 1.872 1.498	1.411 1.518 1.653 1.318	3.767 3.825 4.116 3.559	1.514 1.538 1.655 1.431	0.932 0.987 0.999 0.922	0.96
SM	1 2 3 4	0.191 0.217 0.169 0.164	0.920 0.742 0.718 1.043	0.729 0.525 0.549 0.879	2.275 1.606 1.724 2.777	0.941 0.645 0.693 1.116	0.798 0.814 0.793 0.788	0.79
MY .	1 2 3 4	0.171 0.189 0.180 0.195	1.212 1.423 1.110 1.184	1.041 1.234 0.930 0.989	3.539 4.134 2.928 3.165	1.407 1.644 1.164 1.258	0.740 0.751 0.799 0.786	0.769

.

Table 11. Protein efficiency ratio of P. monodon juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources

Analysis of variance of the data on protein efficiency ratio of \underline{P} . monodon juveniles fed on diets based on different protein sources.

Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean of squ		F Value
4	3.184	0.7	96	73.70**
15	0.162	0.0	108	
19	3.346			
f transformed tr	eatment means	=	0.073	
ce		=	0.216	
ransformed mear	ns based on criti	cal differer	ice	
С	SW SW	РМ	SM	MY
6.	101 5.621	5.186	5.126	5.030
	freedom 4 15 19 f transformed tr ce ransformed mear	freedom squares 4 3.184 15 0.162 19 3.346 f transformed treatment means ce ransformed means based on criti CM SW	freedom squares of squ 4 3.184 0.7 15 0.162 0.0 19 3.346 f transformed treatment means = ce = ransformed means based on critical different CM SW PM	freedomsquaresof squares43.1840.796150.1620.0108193.346f transformed treatment means=ce=0.073ce=0.216ransformed means based on critical differenceCMSWPMSM

Underscored means are not significantly different

** Significant at 1% level.

Table12.Protein digestability coefficient of the formulated feeds fed to P. monodon
juveniles for a period of 20 days

.

Treatments	* Food consumed	* Excreta produced	* Protein in feed	* Protein in excreta	* Protein digested (p)	* Protein ingested (q)	* Protein digestability coefficient ± SD (p/q)
СМ	2.143	0.272	40.24	24.60	0.795	0.862	92.22 ± 0.54
РМ	1.563	0.386	40.61	22.76	0.547	0.635	86.18 ± 0.21
SW	1.815	0.328	40.30	25 . 59	0.647	0.731	88.52 ± 0.44
SM	0.995	0.336	40.17	18.55	0.337	0.399	84.39 ± 0.49
MY	1.636	0.433	39.76	20.30	0.563	0.651	86.54 ± 0.22

* Average of four values

Analysis of variance of the data on protein digestability coefficient of formulated feeds fed to <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles.

Source of variation	0				n sum quares	F Value	
Between diets		.45	20 . 71**				
Error	15		2.191	0	.146		
Total	19	1	20.00				
Standard error o Critical differen		treatme	ent means		= 0.270 = 0.796		
Comparison of t	ransformed me	ans bas	ed on criti	cal differ	ence		
Diets		СМ	SW	MY	РМ	SM	
Transformed mean values	7:	3 . 805 [°]	70.198	68.48	68.183	66.733	

,

Underscored means are not significantly different

** Significant at 1% level.







.

4.5.3 Biochemical Composition of the Prawn

With a view to ascertaining whether there is any significant influence of the diets from various protein sources, on the body composition, biochemical composition of the whole prawn was evaluated after the experiments. The percentages of moisture, ash, protein, lipids and carbohydrates in prawns from different dietary treatments are shown in Table 13, Fig. 9.

Analysis of variance of the data shows that protein sources used in the diets significantly influence (P < 0.05) the moisture, protein, fat and ash contents of the prawns (ANOVA Table 8). The moisture content of prawns fed on diets with plant protein sources was relatively higher than those fed with animal protein sources or single cell protein: sources. However there was no significant difference between prawns fed on diets containing the various animal protein sources, as their moisture content ranged from 75.16% to 76.58%. The highest moisture content was recorded in prawns fed on soybean meal (SM) (77.32%). Prawns fed with marine yeast (MY) recorded a moisture content of 75.62%.

Protein contents of prawns showed distinct variation in relation to the dietary protein sources. Diet based on plant protein source produced significantly lower protein content (P < 0.05) than those based on animal on single cell protein source. Among the different treatments with animal protein sources, the protein contents of the prawns fed on diet from slaughter house waste (SW) was 66.37%, and that from clam meal (CM) was 65.71%, which were relatively higher than those obtained for prawns fed on prawn meal (PM) whose protein content was 64.22% only. The prawns fed on diets with soybean meal (SM) had the lowest protein content (59.86%).

It was observed that prawns fed on diets containing animal protein sources had higher fat contents (15.53% to 16.9%), when compared to prawn fed on diet with plant protein source or single cell protein source (14.88% and 15.19%). Prawns fed on diet from slaughter house waste meal had the highest fat content (16.9%) whereas the prawns fed on diet containing soybean meal had the lowest fat content (14.88%). Differences between the fat content of prawns fed on diets with clam meal (16.10%), prawn meal (15.53%) and marine yeast (15.19%) were insignificant. Total ash content was relatively higher in prawns fed on diets with plant protein source and single cell protein source than those fed with animal protein sources. Highest ash content was recorded in prawns fed with soybean meal (22.82%) followed by marine yeast (19.48%). Among the animal protein sources, prawns fed on prawn meal based diet had the highest ash content (18.12%) whereas prawns fed on diets with slaughter house waste (SW) had the lowest ash content (15.02%).

The calcium content in prawns fed on diets with plant protein sources is relatively lower than those fed on animal or single cell protein sources. Among the diets containing animal protein sources the highest calcium content was recorded in prawns fed with slaughter house waste (4.20%) and the lowest in diet containing clam meal (3.75%). In the case of prawns fed with diet based on marine yeast, the calcium content was 4.05% and those fed on soybean meal based diet recorded 3.70%.

Phosphorus content of prawns fed with soybean meal based diet was 0.59% which was significantly lower (P < 0.05) than those fed with other

Parameter* (%)			Treatments (M	ean values)	
(/oj	СМ	РМ	SW	SM	MY
Moisture	76.23	76.58	75.16	77.32	75.62
Protein	65.71	64.22	66.37	59.86	63.31
Fat	16.10	15.53	16.9	14.88	15.19
Ash	16.30	18.12	15.02	22.82	19.48
Carbohydrate	1.89	2.13	1.71	2.44	2.02
Phosphorus	1.15	1.02	0.88	0.59	1.09
Calcium	3.75	4.20	3.96	3.70	4.05

Table 13. Biochemical composition of P. monodon fed with diets based on different protein sources

* Average of four values.

.



Fig. 9

.

Treatments

75

Analysis of variance of the data on biochemical composition of \underline{P} . monodon juveniles fed with diets based on different protein sources.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom	Sum of squares	Mean sum of squares	F Value
Moisture				
Between treatments	5 4	8.978	2.2445	6 . 868**
Error	15	4.902	0.3268	
Total	19	13.88		

Standard error of tran	nsforme	ed treatm	ent means		=	0.4042
Critical difference					=	0.8614
Comparison of transfo	ormed i	mean bas	ed on critic	al differ	ence	
Treatment codes		SM	РМ	СМ	MY	SW
Transformed mean values		61.46	60.47	60.41	59.87	59.47
Protein						Marazzzzzzzzzzzzz
Between treatments	4	31	6.899		9.225	15.566**
Error	15	:	8.889		0.5926	
Total 	19	4:	5.788			

Critical difference					= 1.159	
Critical difference					= 1.199	
Treatment codes		S₩	СМ	РМ	MY	SM
Transformed mean values		54.56	56.16	53.26	52.74	50.69
<u>Fat</u>						
Between treatments	4		6.269	1.567	,	11.73
Error	15		1.995	0.133	•	
Total	19		8.264			
Standard error of tra	nsform	ed treatm	ent means		= 0.258	
Standard error of tra Critical difference Treatment. codes	nsform	ed treatm	ent means CM	РМ	= 0.549	 SM
Critical difference	nsform		СМ	РМ	= 0.549	
Critical difference Treatment.codes Tranformed	nsform	SW	СМ	РМ	= 0.549 MY	
Critical difference Treatment.codes Tranformed mean values		S₩ 24.27	СМ	РМ	= 0.549 MY 22.94	22.69
Critical difference Treatment.codes Tranformed mean values <u>Carbohydrate</u>		, S₩ 24.27	CM 23.66	PM 23.21	= 0.549 MY 22.94	SM 22.69 2.96 [N.

.

ı,

ı ı

•
•

ı.

٩,

<u>Ash</u>						
Between treatments	4	102.2	24	25.560		9.598**
Error	15	39.9	95	2.63		
Total	19	142.	19			
Standard error of tra	nsforme	d treatmer	nt means		= 1.154	
Critical difference					= 2.459	
Treatment codes		SM	MY	РМ	СМ	SW
Transformed mean values		28.54	26.19	25.19	23.81	22.80

. .

Underscored means are not significantly different

** Significant at 5% level

٠

N.S Not significant at 5% level.

dietary protein sources, in which the phosphorus content varied between 0.88 and 1.15%. Among the diets based on animal protein sources, the phosphorus content was relatively higher in prawns fed on diet containing clam meal (1.15%), while lower in those fed on diet containing soybean meal (0.59%). In the prawns fed on the diet containing marine yeast and slaughter house waste meal the phosphorus content was 1.09 and 0.88% respectively.

4.5.4 Oxygen Consumption, Ammonia Excretion and O: N Ratios

Oxygen consumption and ammonia excretion rates of the test prawns (Table 14, Fig. 10) were significantly influenced (P< 0.01) by the protein sources (ANOVA Table 8). The oxygen consumption rate of prawns fed on diet with animal protein: sources was higher than those fed on diet with single cell protein source. But the rate was not significantly different from that of prawns fed on plant protein (soybean meal) source. Among the animal protein sources highest oxygen consumption rate was observed in prawns fed on prawn meal (0.173 mg $O_2/g/hr$), and minimum in prawns fed on diet containing slaughter house waste (0.143 mg $O_2/g/hr$).

The oxygen consumption rate of prawns fed on diet containing soybean meal and marine yeast was 0.172 mg $O_2/g/hr$ and 0.149 mg $O_2/g/hr$ respectively.

The prawns fed on the diets with animal protein sources excreted less ammonia when compared to those fed on diets with plant or single cell protein sources. The lowest rate of ammonia excretion of 0.0157mg NH₃-N/g/hr was recorded in prawns fed on clam meal based diet and

Parameters *	DIETS (Mean ± SD)								
	CM	PM	SW	SM	MY				
Length (cms)	5.82 ± 0.19	5.74 ± 0.29	5.80 ± 0.20	5.70 ± 0.22	5.78 ± 0.30				
Weight (g)	í1.352 ± 0.17	1.350 ± 0.23	1.352 ± 0.21	1.346 ± 0.16	1.350 ± 0.12				
Oxygen consumption rate – metabolic rate (mgO ₂ /g/hr)	0.1705 ± 0.0114	0.173 ± 0.004	0.143 ± 0.001	0.172 ± 0.002	0.149 ± 0.005				
Ammonia excretion rate (mgNH ₃ -N/g/hr)	0.0157 ± 0.001	0.0183 ± 0.001	0.0192 ± 0.001	0.0285 ± 0.001	0.0234 ± 0.001				
O : N ratio	9.52	8.32	6.53	5.27	5.60				

 Table
 14. Oxygen consumption, ammonia excretion rate and O : N ratios of P. monodon juveniles fed with diets based on different protein sources

* Average of four values

.

Plate VII



Fig. 11

Analysis of variance of the data on oxygen consumption, ammonia excretion and O : N ratios of <u>P</u>. monodon juveniles fed with diets based on different protein sources.

Source of variation	freedom	squ	ares	of squ	ares		
Oxygen consumption	n rate						
Between treatments	5 4	0	.163	0.0	040		22.63**
Error	1 <i>5</i>	0	.027	0.0	018		
Total	19	0	.190				
Standard error of t	ransformed	treatment			0.03		
Critical difference				=	0.088		
Comparison of tran	sformed tr	eatment m	eans base	d on criti	cal diffe	rend	ce
Treatments		РМ	SM	СМ	MY		SW
Transformed means value		2.383	2.376	2.366	2.212		2.167
Ammonia excretion							
Between treatments			.151)377		
Error	15	0	.009	0.0	0006		
Total	19		.160				

Standard error of tra	nsformed	d treatmer	it means		= 0.055	
Critical difference					= 0.161	
Treatments		SM	MY	SW	РМ	СМ
Transformed means value		0.967	0.876	0.794	0.775	0.718
<u>O : N ratios</u>						
Between treatments	4	6	4.983	16.	245	486.39**
Error	15		0.501	0.	0334	
Total	19					
Standard error of tra	nsformed	d treatmer	its means		= 0.129	
Critical difference					= 0.381	
Treatments		СМ	РМ	SW	MY	SM
Transformed means value		17.971	16.76	14.806	13.699	13.271
Underscored means as	re not s	ignificantly	/ different			

١

** Significant at 1% level.

•

highest rate 0.0285 mg NH_3 -N/g/hr) in prawns fed on diet containing soybean meal. Ammonia excretion rates observed in prawns fed on diets containing marine yeast and slaughter house were 0.234 and 0.0192 mg $NH_3^{-N}/g/hr$ respectively.

O : N ratios (Fig. 11) were also significantly influenced (P \leq 0.01) by the dietary protein source (ANOVA Table 9). O : N ratios of prawns fed on diet with animal protein sources are higher than those fed on plant on single cell protein source. The highest O : N ratio (9.52) was recorded in prawns fed on clam meal based diet and the lowest (5.27) in prawns fed on soybean meal based diet. The O : N ratios obtained in prawns fed on diet containing marine yeast and slaughter house waste were 5.6 and 6.53 respectively.

4.6 Study on Optimum Food Ration

Table 15 presents the data on the effect of food rations on food consumption and growth of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles. The physico-chemical conditions of water during the experimental period are given in Table 16.

The analysis of variance of the data shows that different food rations significantly influence (P< 0.01) the growth rate of test animals (ANOVA Table 19), the maximum live weight gain, being seen in prawns fed on food ration at the rate: of 15% of their body weight. A decrease in live weight and low survival rate (32%) was observed in prawns reared without food. Gain in weight and survival rate increase with increase in food ration until the ration reached 15% of the body weight, after which the gain in weight decreases. The food intake is also low beyond 15% food ration.

Table 15. Effect of food ration on food consumption and growth of P. monodon juv
--

0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 Mean initial weight (g) 0.236 0.213 0.201 0.208 0.188 0.208 0.205 0.220 Mean weight after 3 weeks (g) 0.141 0.277 0.391 0.539 0.543 0.632 0.627 0.579 Mean live weight gain (g) -0.095 0.064 0.190 0.331 0.355 0.424 0.422 0.359 Total food consumption per animal (g) $ 0.141$ 0.389 0.745 0.905 1.230 1.413 1.400 Food conversion ratio $ 2.20$ 2.05 2.25 2.55 2.90 3.35 3.90 Specific growth rate (g) -1.805 1.251 3.16 4.531 5.04 5.29 5.097 4.608	Parameters*								
Mean weight after 3 weeks (g) 0.141 0.277 0.391 0.539 0.543 0.632 0.627 0.579 Mean live weight gain (g) -0.095 0.064 0.190 0.331 0.355 0.424 0.422 0.359 Total food consumption per animal (g) $ 0.141$ 0.389 0.745 0.905 1.230 1.413 1.400 Food conversion ratio $ 2.20$ 2.05 2.25 2.55 2.90 3.35 3.90 Specific growth rate (g) -1.805 1.251 3.16 4.531 5.04 5.29 5.097 4.608		0	3	6	9	12	15	18	21
weeks (g) 0.141 0.277 0.391 0.539 0.543 0.632 0.627 0.579 Mean live weight gain (g) -0.095 0.064 0.190 0.331 0.355 0.424 0.422 0.359 Total food consumption per animal (g) $ 0.141$ 0.389 0.745 0.905 1.230 1.413 1.400 Food conversion ratio $ 2.20$ 2.05 2.25 2.55 2.90 3.35 3.90 Specific growth rate (g) -1.805 1.251 3.16 4.531 5.04 5.29 5.097 4.608	Mean initial weight (g)	0.236	0.213	0.201	0.208	0.188	0.208	0.205	0.220
gain (g) -0.095 0.064 0.190 0.331 0.355 0.424 0.422 0.359 Total food consumption per animal (g) - 0.141 0.389 0.745 0.905 1.230 1.413 1.400 Food conversion ratio - 2.20 2.05 2.25 2.55 2.90 3.35 3.90 Specific growth rate (g) -1.805 1.251 3.16 4.531 5.04 5.29 5.097 4.608	Mean weight after 3 weeks (g)	0.141	0.277	0.391	0.539	0.543	0.632	0.627	0.579
animal (g)-0.1410.3890.7450.9051.2301.4131.400Food conversion ratio-2.202.052.252.552.903.353.90Specific growth rate (g)-1.8051.2513.164.5315.045.295.0974.608	Mean live weight gain (g)	-0.095	0.064	0.190	0 . 331	0.355	0.424	0.422	0.359
Specific growth rate (g) -1.805 1.251 3.16 4.531 5.04 5.29 5.097 4.608	Total food consumption per animal (g)	-	0.141	0.389	0.745	0.905	1.230	1.413	1.400
	Food conversion ratio	-	2.20	2.05	2.25	2.55	2.90	3.35	3.90
Survival (%) 32 56 80 82 86 92 90 86	Specific growth rate (g)	-1.805	1.251	3.16	4.531	5.04	5.29	5.097	4.608
	Survival (%)	32	56	80	82	86	92	90	86

* Average of three values.

			Dissolved oxygen (ppm)
27.3 ± 0.64	20.5 ± 0.46	8.13 ± 0.21	6.38 ± 0.74
25.50 - 28.50	20.0 - 21.2	7.97 - 8.49	5.20 - 7.01

Table 16. Water quality parameters of the experimental tanks recorded during the study on effect of food ration

•

Analysis of variance of the data on gain in weight of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles obtained during the study on the effect of food ration.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom		Sum o square	of s		ean sur square		F Value
Between treatment	7		0.54	20		0.0774	Ļ	66.15*
Error	16		0.01	87		0.0017	7	
Total	23		0.56	07				
Critical difference Comparison of trea	atment mea	ns base	ed on c	ritical	differe		.082	
Food rations								
(% of the body wt)) 15	18	21	12	9	6	• 3	0
Ranked means	0.424	0.422	0.359	0.355	0.331	0.190	0.064	0.095

Underscored means are not significantly different

** Significant at 1% level.



The graph (Fig. 12) shows that maintenance ration is at 1.8% of the body weight while optimum and maximum rations are at 6.0% and 15% respectively.

4.7 Study on Optimum Feeding Frequency

Data on the effect of feeding frequency on food consumption, growth and survival in juveniles of <u>P. monodon</u> are shown in Table 17. Water quality parameters of the experimental tanks are presented in the Table 18.

Food consumption, growth and survival increased as the feeding frequency was raised. However, food consumption and growth increased only upto an increase of 3 meal/day and there after these parameters show a declining trend (Fig. 13). There was an increase of 46% and 31% in food consumption and gain in weight as the feeding frequency was raised from once a day to thrice a day respectively. Analysis of variance of the data shows that frequency of feeding significantly influence (P< 0.01) the growth of test animals (ANOVA Table 10). The highest live weight gain was recorded in the case of prawns, which were fed thrice daily (4.45) and lowest in those fed once a day (3.37).

In the case of prawns fed once daily, feeding time was seen to influence food consumption, growth and survival. Thus the prawns fed during night (8 pm) gave a better result than those fed during day time. Again in twice a day meal frequency, appreciable growth was obtained when meal was offered during morning-night hours instead of morning '- noon and noon night hours (Table 17).

	Feeding frequency (number of meals/day)						
Parameters*	Once a day		Twice a day		ر بر Thrice a day		4 times a day
	0800 hrs	2000 hrs	0800 hrs & 2000 hrs	0800 hrs & 1400 hrs	1400 hrs & 2000 hrs	0800,1400, 2000 hrs	1400, 1700,
	(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	2000 hrs. (G)
Mean initial weight (g)	0.240	0.201	0.198	0.216	0.224	0.202	0.220
Mean weight after 4 weeks (g)	0.617	0.636	0.667	0.668	0.670	0.702	0.718
Mean live weight gain (g)	0.377	0.435	0.469	0.452	0.456	0.494	0.498
Total food consum- ption per animal () (g)	1.206	1.465	1.680	1.600	1.620	1.884	1.733
Specific growth rate (%)	3.37	4.11	4.34	4.03	3.91	4.45	4.22
Survival (%)	82	86	88	86	84	92	90

Table 17. Effect of feeding frequency on food consumption, growth and survival of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles

* Average of 3 values.

1
	Water temperature (°C)	Salinity (ppt)	рН	Dissolved Oxygen (ppm)
Mean ± SD	26.9 ± 1.40	20.0 ± 0.5	7.95 ± 0.27	5.64 ± 0.65
Range	25.5 - 29.8	19.5 - 21.2	7.63 - 8.37	4.80 - 6.45

Table18.Water quality parameters of the experimental tanks recorded during feeding
frequency study

ANOVA TABLE 10

Analysis of variance of the data on gain in weight of <u>P</u>. <u>monodon</u> juveniles obtained during the study on the effect of feeding frequency.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom		Sum o square			Mean sum of squares		Value
Between treatments	6		0.026			0.0043	3 6	5.143**
Error	14		0.010			0.0007		
Total	20		0.036					
Critical difference					=	0.0210		
Standard error of treatment means					=	0.0216		
Comparison of tre	eatmen't mea	ıns bas	ed on (critical	differ	ence		
Feeding frequency	G G	F	С	E	D	В	А	
Ranked means (g)	0.498	0.494	0.469	0.456	0.452	0.435	0.377	

•

Underscored means are not significantly different

** Significant at 1% level.

:



Fig. 13

93

V. DISCUSSION

.

•

.

.

. ,

.

V DISCUSSION

5.1 Keeping Quality of Formulated Feeds

The quality of the feed is of utmost importance in the formulation of a diet. A good quality feed is one which is able to maintain its nutritional status for a few weeks of storage. Fowler and Banks (1967) have found no alterations in the nutritional status of the feed pellets stored for few weeks, but storage for greater periods had deleterious effect on the growth performance of fish. The feeds employed in the present study showed satisfactory keeping quality in their nutrient content for a period of four months. According to Hilton <u>et al.</u> (1977), the shelf life of a processed feed is dependent on the type of processing, storage temperature and moisture content of the diet.

5.1.1 Moisture

All the feeds used in the present study showed increased moisture content at the end of four months storage, the percentage increase being different for different feeds. The pellet MY absorbed more moisture (35.64%) than other pellets. Due to the increase in moisture content, the pellets became heavier which was evidenced by their increased sinking rate. The uptake of moisture during storage is due to the presence of hygroscopic ingredients mainly starch (Hastings, 1971) and porosity of feeds (Jayaram and Shetty, 1980). Since the pellet MY absorbed more moisture compared to other pellets, it can be inferred that it contained high amount of hygroscopic materials and is also more porous than the remaining feeds. Higher absorption of moisture by the pellet MY might also be due to its lower fat content. Jayaram and Shetty (1981) reported that higher fat content hardens the particle, thereby preventing the entry of moisture into the pellet. The reduced amount of moisture absorption by the feed pellets CM, PM and SW can be attributed to the same reason. Srikanth (1986) reported that high crude fibre content in feed will help in increased moisture absorption during storage. But contrary to this the feeds tested in the present study, the pellet SM recorded the least percentage increase in moisture (15.27%) after storage period, eventhough the crude fibre content of the feed is higher than all other feeds (7.02%).

5.1.2 Proteins

The crude protein decreased in the different pellets used in the present study during storage, the percentage decrease for pellets CM, PM, SW, SM and MY being 8.08%, 7.40%, 8.98%, 6.47% and 10.56%, respectively. The decrease in crude protein, may be due to the increase in moisture level of feeds during storage. Jayaram and Shetty (1980) and Venugopal and Keshavanath (1984) have also reported similar observations in the feeds they used.

5.1.3 Fat

A marginal decrease in the crude fat content was noted in all the five types of pellets, since the fat content varies inversely with moisture. Its decrease may be attributed to the increase in moisture, which may facilitate lipid hydrolysis. Lipid autoxidation taking place during storage can also cause decrease in fat content. Jayaram and Shetty (1980), and Venugopal and Keshavanath (1984) also reported a decrease in crude fat which they attributed to an increase in moisture content during storage and also to the degree of unsaturated oil present in the diet. This may be one of the reasons for the decrease in fat content noticed in the present investigation. Pellet MY showed the maximum percentage decrease (18.07%) compared to other pellets and the rate of reduction of fat among the different feeds may be directly linked to their moisture content.

5.1.4 Ash, Crude fibre and Carbohydrate

The variations noted in the values of ash and crude fibre are mainly due to the moisture content in the feeds, associated with changes during storage. The differences in the carbohydrate content may be linked to the changes in other components in the feed during storage.

5.1.6 Total Heterotrophic bacteria and Fungi

The total bacterial count and fungal count increased in all feeds after storage. Increase in moisture content during storage may be the reason for increased growth of the microorganisms. Cho <u>et al.</u> (1985) reported that increased microbial load results in decreased palatability and nutritive value of the feed.

5.2 Water Stability of Pelleted Feeds

In an aquaculture system, stability of compounded pellets is of utmost importance, as retension of nutritive compounds in the pelleted feeds for longer time without disintegration, makes them more efficient as well as economical. The formulated pelleted feeds should remain stable for at least one hour, so that they become available to the aquatic organisms.

Ingredient composition, nature of ingredients, type of processing and moisture content are known to influence the feed stability (Hastings, 1971; In the present study, the pellet SM was the most stable Kainz, 1977). at the end of three hours compared to the other diets tested. The high water stability of this pellet, may be due to the high amount of carbohydrate content in it. According to Stivers (1971) and Jayaram and Shetty (1981) the degree of stability is dependant on the gelatinization of starch content of the feed during cooking. Hastings (1971) has stated that higher fat content affects geletinization thereby reducing the stability of the feed. The present study shows that the water stability of the different feeds is in the order SM > CM > SW > PM > MY whereas the fat content of the feeds is in the order SW > CM > PM > SM > MY and the moisture content is in the order MY > PM > SW > CM > SM which show an inverse relationship . of water stability with moisture content rather than with fat content.

Prawns being demersal, feed by grasping the feed pellets with pincer like appendages and masticate externally (Forster, 1971; Zein-Eldin and Meyers, 1973). Hence pellets with high water stability are likely to show better results. All the five pelleted feeds tested during the present investigation showed satisfactory stability upto three hours and hence may be suitable as prawn feeds. Too much stability is also not desirable, because the nutrients in them become unavailable to organisms owing to their bound form in addition to the higher production cost (Balazs et al., 1973).

The stability of the feeds decreases during storage which may be due to increase in moisture absorption by the diets. The percentage decrease in the water stability of feeds stored for four months was least in SM (2.22%), followed by CM (2.52%), PM (3.24%), SW (3.31%), and MY (4.281%).

5.3 Evaluation of Efficiencies of Natural Protein Sources

5.3.1 Feeding Experiment

In the present study few locally available protein sources were tested in relation to their nutritional quality for juveniles of <u>P. monodon</u> based on survival, growth, food conversion ratio, protein efficiency ratio, protein digestibility, body composition and O:N ratios. These parameters were also employed by few earlier authors to evaluate the biological value of protein sources in penaeids and palaemonid prawns (Balazs and Ross, 1976; New, 1976).

5.3.1.1 Growth Studies

Among the different feeds tested in the present study, the diet containing clam meal (CM) gave the highest growth performance, followed by the diet containing slaughter house waste (SW). The lowest growth performance was recorded with soybean meal based diet (SM). The diet containing marine yeast (MY) and prawn meal (PM) were found to be superior to the plant protein source tested.

Most of the plant proteins have been shown to yield poor growth rates in prawns, when used individually, excepting a few like soybean meal, wheat gluten, peanut meal etc (Kanazawa <u>et al.</u>, 1970; Sick and Andrews, 1973; Deshimaru and Shigueno, 1972; Balazs <u>et al.</u>, 1973). Improved growth rates produced by some of the plant protein sources have been attributed to their higher polysaccharide contents than to monosaccharides (Sick and Andrews, 1973). These plant protein sources have been observed to promote superior growth rates when mixed with animal protein sources (Lee, 1970).

Sick and Andrews (1973) have shown that soyabean meal is superior to other plant protein sources such as groundnut oil cake, cotton seed etc. According to Deshimaru and Shigueno (1972) the similarity of aminoacid profile of the soybean meal with that of prawns may be the reason for its better performance than other plant protein?) sources. However, in comparison with diets based on animal protein sources, soybean meal based diet produced lesser growth rate. In the present study also soybean meal based diet gave the lowest growth performance compared to diets containing animal for single cell protein sources.

One of the earliest artificial diet of prawn <u>P. japonicus</u> was derived from that of silkworm pupae, chinook salmon and brine shrimp (Kanazawa <u>et al.</u>, 1970). Subsequently, Shigueno <u>et al.</u> (1972) have shown that high levels of protein obtained from several protein sources such as squid meal, white fish meal, dried euphausids and active sludge are efficient feed ingredients. These studies have led to the identification of several animal protein sources that can be efficiently used for formulation of feeds for prawns. Among the animal protein sources, protein of marine origin is preferred to fresh water origin not only due to the similarity in their amino acid profile, but also due to the better composition of unsaturated fatty acids essential for prawns and higher ash content (Cowey and Sargent, 1972; Boghen and Castell, 1981). For evaluating the nutritional efficiency of the feeds, based on a standard scale, Phillips and Brockway (1956) have suggested that feeds with essential amino acid composition similar to the

test animal would be the most suitable for diet preparation in fishes. Ogino (1963) has also supported this suggestion. Deshimaru and Shigueno (1972) while agrreing with Phillips and Brockway (1956) have suggested that the same standard can be applied for the preparation of artificial feed for P. japonicus. Fresh clam meat is conventionally used as a feed for prawns, both in the nursery rearing phase as well as in growout systems. Kanazawa et al. (1970) reported that the fresh diet of short necked clam Tapes philippinarum gave superior growth compared to other compounded diet's in P. japonicus. Surya Narayanan and Alexander (1972) have reported that clam meat (Villorita) is a good source of protein and contains maximum number of free amino acids. Forster and Beard (1973) reported higher growth rate and survival in Palaemon serratus using fresh clam meat diet. In the present study, black clam Villorita cyprinoides has been used for preparing the diet (CM) for P. monodon which gave higher growth performance compared to other animal or plant protein sources tested. Ahamad Ali (1982a) has also reported higher growth and survival rate in juveniles of P. indicus with diet containing dry clam meat powder of Villorita cyprinoides. But Vellegas (1978) has shown that the growth and survival of P. monodon larvae fed with fresh Tapes was only next to the compounded diets. Colvin (1976) also reported poor performance of P. indicus fed on fresh clam meat as control diet.

Prawn meal has also been regarded as a suitable protein source for the formulation of feed for penaeid prawns. Sick and Andrews (1973) obtained higher growth and survival in <u>P. duorarum</u> fed on diet with shrimp meal. Similarity of the amino acid profile may have resulted in the better performance of juvenile prawns fed on prawn meal based diet (Deshimaru and Shigueno, 1972). But contrary to this, Pascual and Destajo (1978) observed poor growth and survival of <u>P</u>. monodon post-larvae fed on a diet prepared exclusively from shrimp head meal, since according to them shrimp head meal cannot satisfy the nutritional demands of the prawn post-larvae. Simpson <u>et al.</u> (1981) have reported that chitin and calcium carbonate present in the exoskeleton of prawns may have deleterious effects on the overall nutritional quality of diet which in turn affect the growth and survival of the organism fed on this diet. In the present study also prawn meal based diet fed to <u>P</u>. monodon juveniles produced low survival and growth compared to diets based on other animal protein sources.

A variety of single cell protein sources including marine yeast have been used for rearing the larval stages of penaeid prawns (Applebaum, 1979; Watanabe et al., 1983). Marine yeasts Saccharomyces cerevasiae and Rhodotorula aurantica were successfully used in the larval rearing of P. monodon producing higher survival rate than those reared with algae (Aujero et al., 1984). Marine yeast was also incorporated in the diet of fishes during growing stages (Matty and Smith, 1978; Atack et al., 1979). But studies in this direction are limited in the case of prawns in nursery rearing and grow-out systems. In the present study marine yeast was incorporated in the diet of P. monodon which gave higher growth and survival than those fed on diets containing prawn meal or soybean meal. High amount of polyunsaturated fatty acids, high amount of vitamins and minerals present in marine yeast may be the reason for the better performance of P. monodon with this diet.



5.3.1.2 Food Conversion Ratio

In the present study, lower food conversion ratios were recorded in the case of prawns fed on diet containing animal protein sources than diets containing single cell or plant protein sources. The lowest food conversion ratio was recorded in the case of diet containing clam meal (2.18) followed by diet containing slaughter house waste meal (2.59). The highest food conversion ratio was recorded in the case of prawns fed on diet containing marine yeast (3.26).

Gopal (1986) reported that diet with plant protein sources gave relatively higher FCR values than those fed on diets with animal protein sources. Similar observation has also been recorded in the present study. Thus the diet containing the soybean meal recorded higher FCR values (3.12) than those containing animal protein sources.

Specific studies on feeds and nutrition of <u>P. monodon</u> conducted at Kakdwip fish farm by Rajyalakshi <u>et al.</u> (1979) have reported a food conversion ratio ranging from 2.4 to 6 for various feeds prepared from fish meal, shrimp meal and squid meal as main components. Mohammed Sultan <u>et al.</u> (1982) formulated feeds with frog flesh waste and reported a food conversion ratio between 3.01 and 4.96 for <u>P. indicus</u> and 5.87 and 8.21 for <u>P. monodon</u>. The food conversion ratio observed in the present study with clam meat was found to be superior than for those reported earlier.

Feeding trials conducted on <u>P. monodon</u> using a practical feed in the Philippines (SEAFDEC, 1981) have shown a food conversion ratio of 4.8. In a semi-intensive culture experiment with the same species (SEAFDEC, 1983), a commercial prawn feed with 45% protein and an experimental feed with 35% protein produced FCR of 3.4 to 4.6 and 6.1 respectively. In yet another intensive culture experiment (SEAFDEC, 1983), crustacean pelleted feed resulted in a FCR of 3.01 for <u>P. monodon</u>. In Philippines, Liu and Mancebo (1983) recorded a FCR of 1.69 to 1.78 in <u>P. monodon</u> using a commercial formula feed developed by the President Enterprises Corporation.

The higher FCR obtained for clam meal diet in the present study may be due to the nutritive quality of clam meal compared to the protein sources used in other diets. Ahamad Ali and Mohammed (1985) also reported that the diet prepared with clam meal gave the best FCR among the different diets used in his study.

5.3.1.3 Protein Efficiency Ratio (PER)

The present results indicate that prawns fed on pellets based on clam meal were more efficient in converting the dietary protein, followed by the pellet based on prawn meal. It was also found that feeds based on animal protein sources gave better PER values than those based on plant or single cell protein sources.

Steffens, (1981) reported that the PER values can be used to evaluate the quality of protein in the diet, those with high PER values, are of good quality protein and those with low PER values are of poor quality. Hence in the present study, it can be surminsed that the feed based on soybean meal which recorded low PER values is of lower protein quality, compared to other feeds tested.

5.3.1.4 Protein Digestability Coefficient

The digestability of different components of a feed depends on many factors. The difference in digestion coefficients have been attributed to size variations, microflora of intestine and digestive enzymes by many workers (Nail, 1962; Shell, 1967; Dabrowski, 1977). Digestability may be limited due to incomplete digestive action or because of lack of complete absorption (Maynard and Loosli, (1978).

The range in protein digestability in the present study was 84.39% and 92.22%, the coefficients being higher for pellets CM and SW, indicating better utilization of these diets by prawn. Nose and Toyama (1966) and Nomura <u>et al.</u> (1973) have reported that different proteins will have different digestability. Nose (1963) reports that an unfavourable amino acid composition of the diet may also affect the protein digestability.

5.3.2 Biochemical Composition of the Experimental Prawns

It is well known that chemical content of the diet influences the body composition of fish (Phillips <u>et al.</u>, 1966; Jayaram and Shetty, 1980) and hence the study of biochemical composition of an organism is of paramount importance in formulation of its diet. Gopal (1986) reported that prawns show variations in body composition depending on the quality of protein in their diets. Variations in chemical composition of <u>P. monodon</u> fed on diets based on different protein sources are discussed below.

Significant variations were observed for all the biochemical parameters studied except for the carbohydrate content in the experimental animals fed on diets based on different protein sources. The moisture content of the prawn muscle varied between 75.16% and 76.58%. The higher moisture content was observed in prawns fed on plant protein sources, than those fed on animal or single cell protein sources. Brandes and Dietrich (1958) and Love (1970) have pointed out that moisture shows an inverse relationship with fat content in fishes. A similar trend was observed in all the treatments of the present study also, except for prawn fed on diet containing marine yeast.

Data of protein content in the test animals indicate that prawns show preference to animal protein sources compared to plant or single cell protein sources for maximum protein synthesis. Among the prawns fed on diets with animal protein sources, clam meal (CM) based pellet, recorded the highest protein percentage (65.71%), which may be due to the quality of protein in the clam meat and its amino acid profile. According to Cowey and Forster, (1971) and Deshimaru and Shigueno (1972) growth and deposition of protein in the concerned organisms are based on the quality of protein intake. Gopal (1986) has reported higher growth rates and protein deposition in prawns fed on animal protein source because of their higher biological value over other protein sources. The lower protein synthesis in prawns fed on plant or single cell protein sources may be due to the absence of essential nutrients in these diets. Cowey and Corner (1963) reported that variation in essential as well as non-essential amino acids present in diet may affect the metabolic process which in turn influence the synthesis of body proteins.

Prawns fed on diet with animal protein sources had significantly higher fat content compared to those fed on diet containing single cell or plant protein sources. Maximum deposition of fat was observed in prawns fed on diet based on slaughter house waste, (16.9%) followed by those based on clam meal (16.10%). Venugopal (1980) reported that an increased dietary lipid level enhances the deposition of fat in fish flesh. A similar positive correlation between fat content of the diet and accumulated body fat was noticed in the present study too, where the fat content in the diet based on slaughter house waste meal was 9.72% followed by clam meal based diet (8.99%). Buckley and Groves (1979) also suggested that crude fat content in the feed stuff was the major factor which determines the fat content of the organism. The lower fat deposition in the prawns fed on diet based on plant proteins may be due to inhibitory effect of higher levels of fatty acids of W6 (linoleic) series as observed by Cowey and Sargent, (1972).

The ash content was relatively higher in prawns fed on diet based on plant or single cell protein sources than animal protein sources. The highest values was seen in prawns fed on pellets based on soybean meal (22.82%) followed by that on marine yeast (19.48%). Among the diets based on animal protein sources, prawn meal based diet gave the highest ash percentage (18.12%). The carbohydrate content of the prawns fed on different test diets ranged from 1.71 to 2.94%, with the maximum in diet based on soybean meal followed by that with marine yeast. This may be due to the higher amount of carbohydrate content in the respective An inverse relationship between the protein and carbohydrate content diets. of muscle as reported by Khawaja in 1966 is found to be true in the present study also.

Prawns fed with diet based on plant protein source had significantly lower calcium and phosphorus levels compared to those fed on diet based on animal or single cell protein sources. Among the prawns fed on diets based on animal or single cell protein sources, variation in phosphorus and calcium content is insignificant, indicating that utilization of these minerals is not affected by the dietary protein sources. The low phosphorus levels in the body of prawns fed on diet containing plant protein sources in comparison to the other two protein sources may be because of the fact that major part of the phosphorus in the plant product is found to phytic acid (Lall, 1978) which is usually unavailable to animals due to the absence of enzyme phytase (Muir and Roberts, 1982).

5.3.3 Oxygen Consumption, Ammonia Excretion and O: N Ratios

Oxygen consumption, ammonia excretion and O : N ratios can be used as an index of evaluation of a protein source, since these values vary with different protein sources tested. Increased oxygen consumption and reduced ammonia excretion rate at the same time with higher O : N ratios may indirectly indicate the efficiency of a diet. Laxminarayana and Kutty (1982) reported a reduced oxygen consumption and increased ammonia excretion rate for <u>P. semisulcatus</u> under stress conditions. Gopal (1986) is of the view that ammonia excretion rate is an indication of efficiency of protein metabolism in prawns. He has also reported that if a prawn is fed on good quality diet, the diet is efficiently utilized for better growth with minimum catabolism of protein, which in turn indicates the lower ammonia excretion rate. In the present study, lower ammonia excretion rate was observed in prawns fed on diet based on clam meal $(0.0157 \text{ mg}_3 \text{NH}_3 - \text{N/g/l})$;and highest in prawns fed on diet containing soybean meal (0.0285 mg: NH3-N/g/l).

Capuzzo and Lancaster (1979) reported decreased O : N ratios in <u>H</u>. <u>americanus</u> which they attributed to the increased protein catabolism. Since increased protein catabolism has been reported in organisms fed on poor quality diet, the lower O : N ratios can be used as an index for diet of poor quality. In the present study the lowest O : N ratio was obtained in the prawns fed on diet containing soybean meal (5.27) and highest in those fed on diet based on clam meal (9.52). Ragnault (1981) observed a reduction in O : N ratios in <u>Crangon crangon</u> when it is subjected to continued exposure to stress conditions.

5.4 Study on Optimum Food Ration

In shrimp farming systems, determination of optimum food ration is of great significance in view of reducing the cost of operation, at the same time maintaining the environmental hygiene. Shellbourne <u>et al.</u> (1973) reported that in fishes both specific growth rate and food requirements expressed as percentage of body weight fed per day, declined as mean weight of the fish increased. If the ration levels expressed in this form are maintained constant above a minimum, they eventually become surplus for requirements of maximum growth.

Inorder to achieve an efficient feeding regime in an aquaculture system, continued adjustment of the ration level is necessary to compensate the changing requirement (Sedgwick, 1979). A precise knowledge of the relationship between food requirement and body weight for a particular species and diet would be essential to avoid both overfeeding and restricted growth through sub maximum rations.

In the present study, the optimum ration for prawns with an average size of 3.3 cm/0.209 g for the selected clam meal diet was found to be 6% of the body weight while maintenance ration and maximum ration were found to be 1.8% and 15% respectively. Venketaramiah <u>et al.</u> (1972) reported that the quantity of food offered to an animal ranges from 5-100% of the wet weight of the animal. Sick <u>et al.</u> (1973) observed that consumption rates in prawn were directly proportional to the animal size and length of exposure to any particular feed. Apud (1988) reported that the optimum ration for <u>P. monodon</u> having an average weight of 1.7 g is 6% of the body weight and maximum ration as 13% of the body weight. Sedgwick (1979) found that the optimum ration for <u>P. merguiensis</u> juveniles was 6% of the body weight while the maintenance and maximum rations were 2% and 16% of the body weight respectively.

5.5 Study on Optimum Feeding Frequency

In intensive farming operations feeding frequency has an important role in improving overall yelld and reducing the cost of production. A decline in feed efficiency may be incurred, if the food is left exposed in water for long periods before ingestion due to deterioration of the nutritive value through leaching of soluble components from the feed (Forster, 1972; Sedgwick, 1979). This problem can be resolved to some extent by presenting the diet to the prawns in a way which ensures rapid consumption which is mainly achieved through frequent feeding practice. Feeding the animals in divided doses twice or thrice daily was found to contribute towards better growth and conversion efficiency in prawns than feeding the entire dose once a day.

In the present study food consumption, growth and survival of P. monodon juveniles increased as the feeding frequency was raised from once a day to thrice daily, but beyond this level these parameters showed a declining trend. Almost similar observations were reported by Marian et al. (1987) in Macrobrachium lamerei. Sampath and Srithar (1987) reports that in P. monodon, rate of feeding, absorption, and production were increased as the frequency of feeding was raised from once in five days to twice a day. A further increase in feeding frequency however did not influence these parameters. However, Sedgwick in 1979 reported that better growth and feed efficiency can be achieved by increasing the feeding frequency from once a day to four times daily in P. mergiuensis. Apud et al. (1980) reports that better growth and survival in P. monodon can be achieved by manipulating the feeding frequencies, i.e. twice daily, during the first month, three to four times daily in the second month and five times daily during the third and fourth months.

Primavera <u>et al.</u> (1979) reports that food consumption rate increases if the food is given during afternoon and evening hours compared to morning hours, with three hours feeding frequency showing a major peak at 1800 hours (dusk) and minor peak at 1200 hours (noon). Similar observation was also noticed in the present study, where food consumption and growth were higher when prawns were fed during night hours than during day time. Pascual (1986) also reports that best feeding time is late afternoon and evening hours for <u>P. monodon</u> since prawns move around the perimeter of the pond during this time of the day.

VI. SUMMARY

.

.

T

.

VI SUMMARY

I

The present investigation has been carried out to evaluate the efficiency - and keeping quality of pelleted feeds formulated from different protein sources viz. clam meal, prawn meal, slaughter house waste meal (animal proteins), soybean meal (plant protein) and marine yeast (single cell protein), for rearing the juveniles of Penaeus monodon. The main observations were as follows:

- Proximate analysis of the various ingredients used in the study, revealed 1 that clam meal and slaughter house waste meal contained more crude protein than soybean or marine yeast.
- The protein levels in the formulated diets were almost equal (39.76% 2 to 40.30%), crude fat was found to be more in pellet SW (9.72%) than the rest of pellets. Maximum carbohydrate content was recorded in pellet SM (29.38%) and least in pellet PM (19.80%). Crude fibre content was high in pellet SM (7.02%). All the diets were isocaloric, the caloric content ranged from 3.34 K.cal/g (pellet MY) to 3.72 K.cal/g (pellet CM).
- 3 The quality of formulated diets over a period of four months of storage remained good with a slight decrease in nutritive value.
- The pellet SM was found to be more water stable at the end of three 4 hours, followed by the pellet CM and SW.
- The variations observed on the water quality parameters were found 5 to be well within the tolerance limits indicating that supplementary feeding had no adverse effect on the quality of water if properly maintained.

- At the end of 42 days of rearing, the highest growth rate and survival were recorded in <u>P. monodon</u> fed on diet based on animal protein source than diet based on plant protein source. Among the animal protein sources tested, the diet based on clam meal proved to be the best followed by diet based on slaughter house waste. Diet based on marine yeast recorded superior growth performance than those based on prawn meal or soybean meal.
- 7 Diets based on animal protein sources were found to give better food conversion ratios than those based on plant or single cell protein sources. The lowest food conversion ratio (2.18) was recorded in prawns fed on diet containing clam meal (CM) followed by diet containing slaughter house waste meal (SW). The highest FCR (3.26) was recorded in prawns fed on diet based on marine yeast (MY).
- 8 Protein efficiency ratio and protein digestability values were found to be higher in prawns fed on diets based on animal protein sources than those based on plant or single cell protein sources. Among the diets tested, the diet based on clam meal recorded highest PER (1.13) and protein digestability (92.22).
- 9 The biochemical composition of prawns reared on different feeds show significant (P<0.05) variations in moisture, protein, fat and ash content but no significant difference was noticed in the case of carbohydrate content of the prawns.
- 10 Oxygen consumption, ammonia excretion O : N ratios were significantly (P < 0.01) influenced by the protein sources. Oxygen consumption rate

of prawns fed on diet with animal protein sources was found to be higher than those with single cell protein source. Lower ammonia excretion rate was recorded in prawns fed on diets based on animal protein sources than those based on plant or single cell protein source. The highest O : N ratio was recorded in prawns fed on diet based on animal protein source than plant or single cell protein sources. Among the different diets tested, the diet based on clam meal recorded the highest oxygen consumption rate (0.1705 mg O₂/g/hr) lowest ammonia excretion (0.0157 mg NH₃-N/g/hr) and highest O : N ratio (9.52).

- 11 The optimum food ration for <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles was found to be at 6% of the body weight while the maintenance and maximum rations were 1.8% and 15% respectively for clam meal based diet.
- 12 Food consumption, growth and survival of <u>P. monodon</u> increased as feeding frequency was raised, however these parameters increased only upto an increase of 3 meal/day and there after a declining trend was observed.

VII. REFERENCES

.

.

۳

.

,

.

÷

.

•

- Ahamad Ali, S. (1982a). Relative efficiencies of pelleted feeds compounded with different animal proteins and the effect of protein level on the growth of <u>Penaeus indicus</u>. <u>Proc. Symp. Coastal</u>. <u>Aquaculture Mar. Biol. Ass. India.</u>, <u>1</u>: 321 - 328.
- Ahamad Ali, S. (1982b), Effect of carbohydrate (starch) level in purified diets on the growth of <u>Penaeus indicus Indian</u> J. Fish., <u>29</u> (1&2): 201-208.
- Ahamad Ali, S. (1986). Water stability of prawn feed pellets prepared using different binding materials with special reference to tapioca. <u>Indian J. Fish.</u>, <u>33</u>: 108-123.
- Ahamad Ali, S. and Mohamed, K.H. (1985) Utilization of prawn waste and mantis shrimp for compounding feeds for the culture of penaeid prawns. <u>Symp. of Harvest and post harvest technology of Fish</u>. Society of Fisheries Technologists, Cochin, India., 615-618.
- Ahamad Ali, S. and Sivadas, M.G. (1983) Compounded feeds for post larval rearing of marine prawns. <u>Proc. Nat. Symp. Shrimp seed pro-</u> <u>duction and hatchery management</u>, Cochin. pp. 159.
- Alava, V.R. and Lim, C. (1983). The quantitative dietary protein requirements of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> juveniles in a controlled environment. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>30</u> : 53-61.

- Alava, V.R. and Pascual, F.P. (1987) Carbohydrate requirements of <u>Penaeus</u> monodon (Fabricius) juveniles. <u>Aquaculture</u>, <u>61</u> : 211-217.
- Alikunhi, K.H., Mohankumar, S., Ravindran Nair, K.S., Joseph, K., Hameed Ali, M.K., Pavithran, and P.K. Sukumaran (1980) Observations on the mass rearing of Penaeid and Macrobrachium larvae at the regional shrimp hatchery Azhikode during 1979 and 1980.
 <u>Bull. Dept. Fish. Kerala.</u>, <u>21</u> (1): 68-74.
- Andrews, J.W. and Page, J.W. (1975) The effects of frequency of feeding on the culture of Cat fish. <u>Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.</u>, <u>104(2)</u> : 317-321.
- Andrews, J.W. and Sick, L.V. (1972) Studies on the nutritional requirements of penaeid shrimp. <u>Proc. World. Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>3</u>: 403-414.
- Andrews, J.W., Sick, L.V. and Baptist, G.J. (1972) The influence of dietary protein and energy levels on growth and survival of penaeid shrimp. <u>Aquaculture</u>, <u>1</u>: 341-347.
- Anonymous (1978). Proc. Third workshop of All India Co-ordinated Research Project. Brackish water Prawn and Fish Farming. Centr. Inland Fish. Res. Inst. I.C.A.R., Cochin 1978. pp. 42.
- Anonymous (1983) Fish feeds and feeding in developing countries. UNDP/ FAO. ADCP/REP/1983/18. pp. 97.
- A.O.A.C. (1970) Official methods of analysis. <u>Association of Official Agri-</u> culture Chemists. A.O.A.C., Washington D.C. 11th Ed. pp. 957.

- Appelbaum, S. (1979) The suitability of alkan-yeast (Hydrocarbon grown yeast) as a first nutrient for <u>Coregonus albula</u> (L) fry. In:
 <u>Fin Fish nutrition and Fish feed Technology</u>. J.E. Halver and K. Tiews (Eds) Vol. I. H. Heenemann GmbH. Berlin: 515-524.
- Appler, H.N. and Jauncey, K. (1983) The utilization of filamentous green algae (<u>Cladophora glomerata</u> (L) Kutzin) as a protein source in pelleted feed for <u>Sarotherodon</u> (Tiapia). <u>Aquaculture</u>, <u>30</u>: 21-30.
- Apud, F.D. (1984) Extensive and semiintensive culture of prawn and shrimp in the Philippines. <u>Proc. First International Conf. on the culture</u> of <u>Penaeid prawns/shrimps</u>. Iloilocity Philippines: 105-113.
- Apud, F.D. (1988) Prawn grow-out practices in the Philippines. In: <u>Biology</u> <u>and culture of Penaeus monodon</u>. Brackish water Aquaculture Information System. SEAFDEC, Tigbauan, Iloilo, Philippines, 89-118.
- Apud, F.D., Deatras, N. and Gonzales, K.G. (1980) Feeding behaviour and food preferences of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius with scarp Tilapia. <u>Q. Res. Rep. SEAFDEC Aquacult. Dept., 4(3)</u>: 19-21.
- *AQUACOP, (1976) <u>Reproduction in captivity and growth of Penaeus monodon.</u> <u>Fabricius in Polynesia</u>. Rep. Centre Oceanologique due Pacifique CNEXO-COP : pp. 16.

- AQUACOP (1977) Study of nutrition requirements and growth of <u>Penaeus</u> <u>merguiensis</u> in tanks by means of purified and artificial diets. <u>Proc. World Mari. Soc.</u>, <u>9</u>: 225-234.
- AQUACOP, (1978) Penaeid reared broodstock. Closing the cycle of <u>Penaeus</u> <u>monodon</u>, <u>P. stylirostris</u> and <u>P. vannamei</u>. <u>Proc. World Maricult</u>. <u>Soc.</u>, <u>10</u> : 445-452.
- AQUACOP, (1984a) Review of ten years of experimental Penaeid Shrimp culture in Tahiti and New Caledonia (South Pacific) <u>J. World</u> <u>Maricult. Soc.</u>, 15: 73-91.
- AQUACOP, (1984b) Overview of Penaeid culture research. Impact on commercial culture activity. <u>Proc. First International Conf.</u> <u>on the culture of Penaeid prawns/shrimps</u>. Iloilocity. Philippines. 1-10.
- Arunachalam, S. and Reddy, S. (1981) Interaction of feeding rates on growth, food conversion, and body composition of fresh water cat fish. <u>Mystus villatus</u> (Bloch). <u>Hydrobiologia</u>. <u>28</u>: 25-32.
- Atack, T.H. and Matty, A.J. (1979) The evaluation of single cell proteins in the diet of rainbow trout. II The determination of net protein utilization, biological values and true digestability. In: <u>Fin fish Nutrition and Fish feed technology</u>. J.E. Halver and K. Tiews (Eds) Vol. I, H. Heenenman, GmbH, Berlin. 261-270.
- Atack, T.H., Jauncey, K., and Matty, A.J. (1979) The utilization of some single cell proteins by fingerling Mirror Carp (<u>Cyprinus carpio</u>). <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>18</u>: 337-348.

- Aujero, J. Eva, Elsie, Tech. and Susan Javellana (1984). Nutritional value of Marine yeast fed to larvae of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> in combination with algae. <u>Proc. First International Conf. on the culture</u> of penaeid prawns/shrimps. Iloilocity Philippines. pp. 168.
- Bages, M. and Sloane, L. (1981) Effect of dietary protein and starch levels on growth and survival of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> (Fabricius) post larvae. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>25</u> : 117-128.
- Balazs, G.H. and Ross, E. (1976) Effect of protein source and level on growth and performance of the captive freshwater prawn <u>Macrobrachium</u> <u>rosenbergii</u>. <u>Aquaculture</u>., <u>7</u>: 299-313.
- Balazs, G.H., Ross, E. and Brooks, C.C. (1973) Preliminary studies on the preparation and feeding of crustacean diets. <u>Aquaculture</u>, <u>2</u>: 369-377.
- Balazs, G.H., Ross, E., Brooks, C.C. and Fujimura, T. (1974) Effect of protein source and level on growth of captive fresh water prawns <u>Macrobrachium rosenbergii</u> Proc. World Maricult. Soc., <u>5</u>: 1-14.
- Bautista, M.N. (1986) The response of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> juveniles to varying protein/energy ratios in test diets. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>53</u> : 229-242.
- Bayne, B.L. and Scullard, C. (1977). Rates of nitrogen excretion by species of <u>Mytilus</u> (Bivalvia : mollusca). <u>J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K.,</u> <u>57</u> : 355-369.

- Bayne, B.L., Brown, D.A., Burns, K., Dixan, D.R., Kanovii, A., Livingstone,
 D.R., Love, D.M., Moore, M.W., Stebbing, ARD. and Widdows,
 J. (Editors), (1985) <u>The effect of stress and pollution on marine</u> <u>mussels</u>. <u>Physiological procedures</u>. Praeger Publishers, CBS. INC, New York 10175. USA. pp. 235.
- Beck, H., Gropp, J., Koops, H. and Tiews, K. (1979) Single cell proteins in trout diets. In: <u>Fin fish nutrition and Fish feed technology</u>.
 J.E. Halver & K. Tiews (Eds) Vol. II. H. Heenenmann GmbH. Berlin. pp. 269-275.
- Bergstrom, E. (1979) Experiments on the use of single cell proteins in Atlantic salmon diets. In: <u>Fin fish nutrition and fish feed technology</u>. J.E. Halver & K. Tiews (Eds) Vol. II. H. Heenenmann GmbH. Berlin. 105-111.
- Bhat, J.V. and Kachwalla, N. (1955) Marine yeasts of the Indian Coast. <u>Proc.</u> <u>Ind. Acd. Sci.</u> (B), <u>41</u> : 9-15.
- *Boghen, A. and Castell, (1980) <u>Consideration of the lecithin and protein</u> requirements of juveniles lobster (H. americanus). Maine Sea Grant. Walpole (Publisher) (USA). 21-28.
- Boghen, A. and Castell, J.D. (1981) Nutritional value of different dietary protein to juvenile lobster <u>H. americanus</u>. <u>Aquaculture</u>., <u>22</u>: 324-349.
- Boyd, C.E., (1979). <u>Water quality in warm water fish ponds</u>. Auburn University Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn, Alabama. pp. 359.

- *Brandes, C.H. and Dietrich, R. (1958). Batrachtungen Uber die Bezichulgen Zwischen dem fett – and wassergehalt and die Fettvarteilung bei konsum fischen. <u>Verofeente</u> – <u>Inst Meeresforsch</u>. Bremerhaven, <u>5</u>: 299-305.
- Buckley, J.T. and Groves, T.D.D. (1979). Influence of feed on body composition of fin fish In: <u>Fin fish nutrition and Fish feed technology</u>. J.E. Halver and K. Tiews (Eds) Vol. II. H. Heenenmann GmbH. Berlin, 335-343.
- Capuzzo, J.M. and Lancaster, B.A. (1979) Some physiological and biochemical consideration of larval development in the American lobster <u>Homarus americanus</u> Milne Edwards. <u>J. Exp. Mar. Biol. E.</u> <u>Col., 40</u> : 53-62.
- Castell, J.D., Conflin, D.E., Craig, J., Norman, K., Bourdeau, and Lall, S.P. (1981). Nutrition in Aquaculture. <u>World Conference on Aqua-</u> culture trade show, Venice. Italy. pp. 19.
- Catacutan, M. and Kanazawa, A. (1985) Effect of dietary fatty acid composition of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> juveniles. <u>Proc. First International</u> <u>Conf. on the culture of penaeid prawns/shrimp</u>. Iloilocity Philippines. pp. 181.
- Chen, H.Y., Zein-Eldin, Z.P. and Aldrich, D.V. (1985) Combined effects of shrimp size and dietary protein source on the growth of <u>Penaeus</u> <u>setiferus</u> and <u>Penaeus</u> vannamei. <u>J. World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>16</u>: 228-296.

- Chiang, P. and Liao, I.C. (1985) The practice of grass prawn (<u>Penaeus</u> <u>monodon</u>) culture in Taiwan from 1968 to 1984. <u>J. World</u> <u>Maricult. Soc., 16</u>: 297-315.
- *Cho, C.Y., Cowey, C.B. and Watanabae, T. (1985) Fin fish nutrition in Asia. <u>Methodological approaches to research and development</u> IDRC. Ottawa, Ont. pp. 154.
- Chopra, B.N. (1939) Some food prawns and crabs of India and their fisheries. J. Bombay Nat. Hist. Soc., 4(2) : 221-234.
- Chow, K.W. (1980) Storage problems of feed stuffs In: Fish Feed Technology. FAO/UNDP Training course. College of Fisheries. Univ. Washington, Seattle, W.A., ADCP/REP/80/11 : 216-224.
- Chua, T. and Teng, S. (1978) Effects of feeding frequency on the growth of young estuary grouper <u>Epinephelus</u> tauvina (Forskal) cultured in floating net cages. <u>Aquaculture</u>, <u>14</u> : 31-47.
- Chua, T. and Teng, S. (1982) Effects of food ration on growth, condition factor, food conversion efficiency and net yield of estuary grouper <u>Epinephelus</u> <u>salmoides</u> <u>Maxwell</u>, cultured in floating cages. <u>Aquaculture</u>., <u>27</u>: 273-283.
- Claybrook, D.L. (1983) Nitrogen metabolism. In: <u>Biology of crustacea</u> Vol. 5, (Dorothy, E. Bliss Ed in Chief). 163-213.
- Cohen, C., Joseph, D., Bell, L. and Oler, A. (1963) Feeding frequency and protein metabolism. <u>Am. J. Physiol.</u>, <u>205</u>: 71-78.

- *Coloso, H.M. and Cruz, L.J. (1980) Preliminary studies in some aspects of amino acid biosynthesis in juveniles of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius 1. Incorporation of ¹⁴C from (U ¹⁴C) acetate into amino acids of precipitable proteins. <u>Bull. Phil. Biochem.</u> <u>Soc.</u>, <u>3(1&2)</u>: 12-22.
- Colvin, P.M. (1976) Nutritional studies on Penaeid prawns. Protein requirements in compounded diets for juvenile <u>Penaeus</u> <u>indicus</u>. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>7(4)</u> : 315-326.
- Colvin, L.B. and Brand, C.W. (1977) Protein requirement of Penaeid shrimp at various life-cycle stages with compounded diets in controlled environemnt systems. <u>Proc. World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>8</u>: 821-840.
- Conklin, D.E., Devers, K. and Bordner, C.E. (1977) Development of artificial diets for lobster <u>H. americanus.</u> <u>Proc. Ann. meet. World</u> <u>Maricult. Soc., 8</u>: 841-852.
- Cowey, C.R. and Corner, E.D.S. (1963) Amino acids and some other nitrogenous compounds in <u>Calanus finmarchicus</u>. J. <u>Mar. Biol.</u> <u>U.K.</u>, <u>43</u> : 485-493.
- Cowey, C.B. and Forster, J.R.M. (1971) The essential amino acid requirements of the prawn <u>Palaemon</u> <u>serratus</u>. The growth of prawns on diets containing proteins of different amino acid composition. <u>Mar. Biol.</u>, <u>10</u>: 77-81.
- Cowey, C.B. and Sargent, J.R. (1972) Fish nutrition. <u>Adv. Mar. Biol.</u>, Vol. 10, Academic Press, London & New York, 383-392.

- Cuzon, G., Hew, M., Coegnie, D. and Soletchnik, P. (1982) Time lag effect of feeding on growth of juvenile prawn shrimp. <u>Penaeus</u> <u>japonicus.</u> <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>29(12)</u> : 33-44.
- Dabrowski, K. (1977) Protein requirement of grass carp fry (<u>Ctenopharyngodon</u> <u>idella</u> Val). <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>12</u>: 63-73.
- Dall, W. and Moriarty, J.W. (1983) Functional aspects of nutrition and digestion. In: <u>Biology of crustacea</u> (Dorothy, E. Bliss. Edin-Chief), Vol. 5 : 215-261.
- Dela Cruz, M.C., Erazo, G. and Bautista, M.N. (1989) Effect of storage temperature on the quality of diets for prawn <u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>80</u>: 87-95.
- Deshimaru, O. and Kuroki, K. (1974) Studies on a purified diet for prawn 1. Basal composition of diet. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>40(4)</u>: 413-419.
- Deshimaru, O. and Kuroki, K. (1975a) Studies on a purified diet far prawn IV. Evaluation of protein free amino acids and their mixture as nitrogen source. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>41(1)</u>: 101-103.
- Deshimaru, O. and Kuroki, K. (1975b) Studies on a purified diet for prawn V. Evaluation of casein hydrolyzates as a nitrogen source. <u>Bull.</u> <u>Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>41</u>(3) : 301-304.
- Deshimaru, O. and Kuroki, K. (1976) Studies on purified diet for prawn V. Adequate dietary levels of ascorbic acid and inositol. <u>Bull.</u> <u>Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>42</u>(5): 571-576.
Deshimaru, O. and Shigueno, K. (1972) Introduction to the artificial diet for prawn. Penaeus japonicus. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>1</u>(2) : 115-133.

1

- Deshimaru, O. and Yone, Y. (1978a) Studies on a purified diet for prawn. Requirement of prawn for dietary minerals. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc.</u> <u>Sci. Fish., 44(8)</u> : 907-910.
- Deshimaru, O. and Yone, Y. (1978b) Optimum level of dietary protein for prawn. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>44(12)</u> : 1395-1397.
- Deshimaru, O., Kuroki, K., Sakamoto, S. and Yone, Y. (1978) Absorption of labelled calcium - 45 Ca by prawn from Sea water. <u>Bull.</u> <u>Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish., 44(9)</u> : 975-977.
- Elam, C.L. and Green, A.W. (1974) Culture of white shrimp (<u>Penaeus</u> <u>setiferus</u> Linnaeus) in static water ponds. <u>Proc. World Maricult.</u> <u>Soc.</u>, <u>4</u> : 87-97.
- Escobar, G.J. (1984) Overview of penaeid culture in the Americas. <u>Proc.</u> <u>First International Conf. on the culture of penaeid prawns/</u> shrimps. Iloilocity. Philippines : 23-26.
- Fenucci, J.L. and Zein-Eldin, Z.P. (1976) Evaluation of squid mantle meal as a protein source in penaeid nutrition. <u>Proc. Ann. Meet.</u> <u>World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>11</u>: 403-409.
- Fisher, L.R. (1960) Vitamins Strate T.H. Waterman (Editor). <u>Physiology of</u> crustacea. Vol. 1. Academic Press, New York, N.Y., 259-289.
- *Forster, J.R.M. (1971) Some methods for binding prawn diets and their effects on growth and assimilation. J. Cons. Perm. Int. Explor.

- *Forster, J.R.M. (1972) Some methods of binding prawn diets and their effects on growth and assimilation. <u>J. Cons. Int. Explor.</u> <u>Mer., 34</u>: 200-216.
- Forster, J.R.M. (1976) Studies on the development of compounded diets for prawns. <u>Internatl. Conf. Aquacult. Nutr. Delaware Sea</u> Grant Program and US/Japan Aquaculture Panel UJNR: 229-248.
- *Forster, J.R.M. and Beard, T.W. (1969) Some experiments on the preparation of a compound diets for the prawn <u>Palaemon</u> <u>serratus</u>. <u>Int</u>. Counc. Explor. Sea., CM/E, 6: 9-14.
- *Forster, J.R.M. and Beard, T.W. (1973) Growth experiments with the prawn <u>Palaemon serratus</u> fed with fresh and compounded foods. <u>Fish. Invest. Ser.</u>, <u>11(7)</u>: 16-20.
- Forster, J.R.M. and Gabbot, P.A. (1971) The assimilation of nutrients from compounded diets by the prawns <u>Palaemon serratus</u> and <u>Pandalus</u> <u>platyceros</u> <u>J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K., 51</u>: 943-961.
- Fowler, L.G. and Banks, D.L. (1967) Test of different components in the Abernathy Salmon diet. <u>Tech. Pap. U.S. Dept. Interior.</u> <u>Bur. Sport. Fish. Wildl. 13:</u> 17-20.
- Furukawa, I. (1972) Larval culture of the penaeid prawn <u>Penaeus</u> japonicus fed on marine yeast. <u>Fish</u> <u>culture</u> (Tokyo)., <u>10(5)</u>: 38-42.
- Furukawa, I. and Hidaka, T. (1973) Technical problems encountered in the mass culture using marine yeasts as food organism. Bull.

- *Furukuwa, I., Hidaka, T. and Hirano, K. (1973) Production of larvae of <u>Penaeus japonicus</u> Bate with marine yeast. <u>Bull. Fac. Agr.</u> <u>Miyazaki Univ.</u>, <u>20(1)</u>: 93-110.
- Gopal, C. (1986) Nutritional studies in juvenile <u>Penaeus indicus</u> with reference to protein and Vitamin' requirements. <u>Ph.D. Thesis Centre</u> of Advanced Studies in Mariculture. CMFRI, Cochin. pp. 306.
- Gopalakrishnan, V. (1952) Food and feeding habits of <u>Penaeus</u> <u>indicus</u>. Milne Edwards. <u>J. Madras Univ.</u>, <u>22</u>B(1): 69-75.
- Goswami, V. and Goswami, S.C. (1979) Formulation of cheaper artificial feeds for shrimp culture. Preliminary biochemical, physical and biological evaluation. <u>Aqauculture.</u>, <u>16</u>: 309-317.
- Grajcer, D. and Neal, R. (1972) Growth of hatchery reared <u>P. aztecus</u> on experimental diets. <u>Proc. Ann. meet. World. Maricult.</u> <u>Soc.</u>, <u>3</u>: 461-470.
- Grayton, B.D. and Beamish, F.W.H. (1977) Effects of feeding frequency on food intake, growth and body composition of Rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) Aquaculture., 11: 159-172.
- *Hall, D.N.F. (1962) Observations on the taxonamy and biology of some Indo-west, Pacific, Penaeidae (Crustacea, Decapoda). <u>Colon</u>. <u>Off. Fish. London.</u>, <u>17</u>: pp. 229.

- Hardy, R. (1980) Fish lipid, In: J.J. Connel and Staff of Torry Research Station. (Editors) <u>Advances in Fish Science and Technology</u>. Torry Research Station, 103-111.
- Harper, H.A. (1981) Some direction in the evaluation of protein quality. <u>J. Agric. Chem., 29</u>: 425-429.
- Hastings, W.H. (1971) Study of pelleted fish foods stability in water. <u>Resour.</u> <u>Publ. U.S. Bur Sport Fish. Wildl., 102</u> : 75-80.
- Hastings, W.H. (1976) Fish nutrition and fish feed manufacture <u>FAO</u>. <u>Technical Conf. on Aquaculture</u>. <u>Kyoto</u>, <u>Japan</u>. FIR, Aq./ Conf/76/R 23, pp. 13.
- Hastings, W.H., Meyers, S.P. and Butter, D.P. (1971) A commercial process for water stable fish feeds. <u>Feed Stuffs</u>, <u>43</u>(47) : 38-41.
- Hepher, B. and Ghervinski, (1965) Studies on carp nutrition the influence of protein-rich diet on growth. <u>Bamidgeh</u>, <u>17(2)</u> : 31-46.
- Hepher, B. and Pruginin, Y. (1981) Nutrition and feeding. In: <u>Commercial</u> <u>fish farming</u>. Wiley Inter Science. New York, 192-206.
- Hepher, B., Sandbank, E. and Shelef, G. (1979) Alternative protein sources for warm water fish diets. In: <u>Fin fish nutrition and Fish</u> <u>feed technology</u>. J.E. Halver and K. Tiews, (Eds), Vol. I. H. Heenenmann GmbH. Berlin, 327-342.
- Hilton, J.W., Cho, C.Y. and Slinger, S.J. (1977) Factors affecting the stability of supplemental ascorbic acid in practical trout diets. <u>J.</u> <u>Fish. Res. Bd. Can., 34</u>: 683-687.

- Huang, H.J., Griffin, W.L. and Aldrich, D.V. (1984) A preliminary economic feasibility analysis of a proposed commercial shrimp culture operation. <u>J. World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>15</u>: 95-105.
- *Hunter, A.C. (1920) A pink yeast causing spoilage in oysters. <u>U.S. Dept.</u> <u>Agri. Bull.</u>, <u>819</u>: 1-24.
- Ishiwata, N. (1969) Ecological studies on feeding of fishes, VIII. Frequency of feeding and growth. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>35</u>: 985-990.
- Jayaram, M.G. and Shetty, H.P.C. (1980) Influence of different diets on the proximate body composition of <u>Catla catla</u>, <u>Labeo rohita</u> and <u>Cyprinus carpio</u>. <u>Mysore J. Agric. Sci.</u>, <u>14</u>: 381-384.
- Jayaram, M.G. and Shetty, H.P.C. (1981) Formulation processing and water stability of two pelleted fish feeds. <u>Aquaculture</u>., <u>23</u>: 355-359.
- Joseph, J.D. and Meyers, S.P. (1975) Lipid fatty acid composition of shrimp meals and crustacean diets. <u>Feed</u> <u>stuffs.</u>, <u>47(35)</u> : 28-29.
- Joseph, J.D. and Williams, J.E. (1975) Shrimp head oil: A potential feed additive for mariculture. <u>Proc. World. Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>6</u>: 147-155.
- *Kainz, E. (1977) Feeding experiments on Rainbow trout. <u>Oesterr. Fish.</u> <u>Fisch., 30</u>: 165-167.
- Kanazawa, A. (1984) Nutrition of Penaeid prawns and shrimps. <u>Proc.</u> <u>First Int. Nat. Conf. on the culture of Penaeid prawns/shrimps.</u> Iloilocity, Philippines, 123-130.

- *Kanazawa, A. and Teshima, S. (1977) Biosynthesis of fatty acids from acetate in the prawn. <u>Penaeus japonicus</u>. <u>Mem. Fac. Fish</u>. <u>Kagoshima</u>. <u>Univ.,26</u>: 49-53.
- Kanazawa, A. and Teshima, S. (1981) Essential amino acids of the prawn. Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish., <u>47(10)</u>: 1335-1337.
- Kanazawa, A., Teshima, S. and Sasaki, M. (1984) Requirements of potassium, copper, manganese, and iron. <u>Mem. Fac. Fish. Kagoshima.</u> <u>Univ.</u>, <u>33(</u>1) : 63-71.
- Kanazawa, A., Shimaya, M., Kawasaki, M. and Kashiwada, K. (1970) Nutritional requirements of prawn - 1. Feeding on artificial diet. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>36</u>: 949-954.
- Kanazawa, A., Tanaka, S., Teshima, and Kashiwada, K. (1971a) Nutritional requirements of Prawn II. Requirements for sterols. <u>Bull.</u> <u>Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>37(3)</u>: 211-215.
- Kanazawa, A., Tanaka, N., Teshima, S., and Kashiwada, K. (1971b) Nutritional requirements of Prawn III. Utilization of the dietary sterols. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>37(10)</u>: 1015-1019.
- Kanazawa, A., Teshima, S., Mutsumoto, S. and Nomura, T. (1981) Dietary protein requirement of shrimp, <u>Metapenaeus monoceros. Bull.</u> <u>Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>47(10)</u>: 1371-1374.
- Kanazawa, A., Tokiwa, S., Kamayama, S. and Hirata, M. (1977) Essential fatty acids in the diet of pran I. Effects of Linoleic and linolenic acids on the growth. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>,

<u>43(</u>9): 1111-1114.

- Kawano, T. and Ohsawa, T. (1971) The culture and development of marine yeast. Ocean Exploitation, <u>4(1)</u>: 1-8.
- Khannapa, A. (1977) Effects of various protein levels on growth and survival rates of <u>Penaeus monodon</u>. Q. Res. Rep. SEAFDEC., 1(1): 24-28.
- Khannapa, A. (1979) The effects of various protein levels on growth and survival rates of <u>Penaeus monodon Thai</u>. <u>Fish. Gazette.</u>, <u>31</u>: 51-60.
- Khawaja, D.K. (1966) Biochemical composition of the muscle of some fresh water fishes during the pre-maturity phase. <u>Fish.</u> <u>Technol.</u>, <u>3</u>: 94-102.
- Kies, C (1981) Bio availability a factor in protein quality. <u>J. Agric. Fd.</u> Chem., <u>29</u>: 435-490.
- Kitabayashi, K., Kurata, H., Shudo, K., Nakamura, K. and Ishiwaka, S. (1971a) Studies on formula feed for Kuruma Prawn 1. On the relationship among glucosamine phosphorous and calcium. <u>Bull. Tokai. Reg. Fish. Res. Lab.</u>, <u>65</u>: 91-107.
- Kitabayashi, K., Shudo, K., Nakumura, K. and Ishikawa, (1971b) Studies on formula feed for Kuruma Prawn - II. On the utilization values of glucose. <u>Bull. Tokai. Reg. Fish. Res. Lab.</u>, <u>65</u>: 109-118.
- Kitayama, T., Hirata, K. and Chinchester, C.O. (1971) The biosynthesis of Astaxanthim – IV: The carotenoids in the prawn, <u>Penaeus</u>

japonicus (Part 1). Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish., 37: 614-620.

- Kittaka, J. (1976) Food and growth of Penaeid shrimp. <u>Proc. First Inter-</u> <u>national Conf. on Aquatic. Nutrition</u>. Delaware Sea Grant Programme/Japan Aquacul Panel; 249-285.
- Kono, H. and Nose, Y. (1971) Relationship between the amount of food taken and growth in fishes. 1 - Frequency of feeding for a maximum daily ration. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>37</u>: 169-175.
- Kulikov, P.I. (1978) <u>Production of meal, oil and protein</u> <u>vitamin preparations</u> <u>in the Fishing Industry</u>. American Publishing Co. Pvt. Ltd., New York, pp. 253.
- Kuttyamma, V.J. (1973) Observation on the food and feeding of some Penaeid prawns of Cochin area. <u>J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. India.</u>, <u>15(1)</u>: 189-194.
- Kutty, M.N. (1967) Oxygen consumption in the prawns <u>Penaeus indicus</u> and <u>Penaeus semisulcatus</u> <u>FAO</u> <u>Fish.</u> <u>Rep.</u>, <u>57(3)</u>: 957-969.
- Kutty, M.N., Murugaboopathy, G. and Kirshnan, T.S. (1971). Influence of salinity and temperature on the oxygen consumption in young juveniles of the Indian prawn. <u>Penaeus indicus Mar. Biol.</u>, <u>2(2)</u>: 125-131.
- Lall, S.P. (1978) Minerals in fin fish nutrition. EIFAC Symp. <u>Fin fish</u> <u>Nutrr. and Feed Technology</u> Hamburg. EIFAC/78/Symp. pp. R/92.

- Laxminarayana, A. and Kutty, M.N. (1982) Oxygen consumption, ammonia excretion and random activity in <u>Penaeus semisulcatus</u>, <u>Macrobrachium malcolmsonii</u> and <u>Paratelphusa hydrodromus</u> with reference to ambient oxygen. <u>Proc. Symp. coastal. Aquaculture</u>, <u>1</u>: 117-122.
- Lee, D. (1970) Study on digestion and absorption of protein in artificial feeds by four species of shrimps. <u>Collect. Repr. Tungkang</u> <u>Mar. Biol., 1</u>: 77-84.
- Lee, D. 91971) Studies on the protein utilization related to growth of Penaeus monodon Fabricius. Aquaculture., 1: 1-13.
- Lee, S.S. and Shlesser, (1984) Production of <u>Penaeus</u> <u>vannamei</u> in cattle manure enriched ecosystem in Hawai. <u>J. World Maricult.</u> <u>Soc.</u>, <u>15</u>: 52-60.
- Liao, I.C. (1981) Status and problems of grass prawn culture in Taiwan. <u>Rep. Japan. Symp. on Mariculture Taipei. Taiwan. Roc.</u>, pp. 35.
- Liu, M.S. and Mancebo, J. (1983) Pond culture of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> in the Philippines. Survival and yield using commercially formulated feed. <u>J. World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>14</u>: 75-85.
- Love, R.M. (1970) The chemical composition of fish tissues. In: <u>The Chemical</u> <u>Biology of fishes</u>. Academic Press, Newyork, pp. 437.
- Maguire, G.B. and Hume, I.D. (1982) A study of the nutritional requirements school prawns M. macleaye in some Australian brackish water

- Mahnken, C.V., Spinelli, W., and Waknitz, F.W. (1980) Evaluation of an alkane yeast. (<u>Candida</u> sp) as a substitute for fish meal in oregon moist pellet : Feeding trials with coho salmon (<u>Onchorhyncus kisutch</u>). <u>Aquaculture.</u>, 20: 41-56.
- Marian, M.P., Pandian, T.J., Mathavan, S., Murugadoss, S. and Premkumar, D.R.D. (1987) Suitable diet and optimum feeding frequency in eye ablated <u>Macrobrachium lamerei</u>. <u>Proc. First. Asian</u> <u>Fish. Forum</u> Philippines. pp. 768.
- Marte, C.L. (1980) The food and feeding habits of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius collected from Makato river, Aklan, Philippines, (Decapoda, Natantia) <u>Crustaceana.</u>, <u>38</u>(3): 225-236.
- Marte, C.L. (1982) Seasonal variations in food and feeding of <u>Penaeus</u> <u>monodon</u> Frabricius. <u>Crustaceana</u>., <u>42(3)</u>: 250-255.
- Matty, A.J. and Smith, P., (1978) Evaluation of an yeast, a bacterium and an algae as a protein source for rainbow trout 1. Effect of protein level on growth, gross conversion efficiency and protein conversion efficiency. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>14</u>: 235-246.
- Maynard, L.A. and Loosli, J.K. (1978) <u>Animal nutrition</u>. Tata Mc Graw. Hill. Publishing Company Ltd., New Delhi. pp. 613.
- *Mendoza, E.C. (1982) Quantitative dietary lipid requirement of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles in a controlled environment. <u>M.S. Thesis</u>, University of Philippines. pp. 33.

- Meyers, S.P. (1980) Water stable extruded diets and feeding of invertebrate. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>1(2)</u> : 41-46.
- Meyers, S.P. and Brand, C.W. (1975) Experimental flake diets for fish and crustacea. <u>Proc. Fish Cult.</u>, <u>37</u>(2) : 67-72.
- Meyers, S.P. and Zein-Eldin, Z.P. (1972) Binders and pellet stability in development of crustaceans rations. <u>Proc. World Maricult.</u> <u>Soc.</u>, <u>3</u>: 351-364.
- Meyers, S.P., Butter, D.P. and Hastings (1972) Alginates as binders for crustacean rations. <u>Proc. Fish Cult.</u>, <u>34</u> : 9-12.
- Millamena, O.M., Primavera, J.H. Pudedera, R.A. and Caballero, R.V. (1986) The effect of diet on the reproductive performance of pond reared <u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius brood stock. Maclean. J.L. Dizon, L.B., Hossilos. L.V. (Eds). <u>The First Asian Fisheries</u> <u>Forum of the Asian Fisheries Society</u>, Manila Philippines, 593-597.
- Millikin, M.R., Fortner, A.R., Fair, P.H. and Sick, L.V. (1980) Influence of several dietary protein concentrations on growth, feed conversion and general metabolism of juvenile prawn (<u>Macrobrachium rosenbergii</u>). <u>Proc. World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>11</u>: 382-391.
- Mohammed Sultan, K.N., Sidharaju, S. and Ramachandra Menon, (1982) An artificial prawn feed compounded with frog flesh waste as the main ingredient. <u>Proc. Symp. Coastal Aqauculture</u> <u>Mar. Biol. Assoc. India., 1</u>: 344-348.

- Mohamed, K.H., Muthu, M.S., Pillai, N.N., Ahamad Ali, S. and Pandian S.K. (1983) A simplified hatchery technique for mass production of penaeid prawn seed using formula feed. <u>J. Indian Fish.</u>, <u>30(2)</u> : 320-332.
- Mohanty, S.K. (1975) On the food of 'Bagda' <u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius from Chilka lake. <u>Bull. Dept. Mar. Sci. Univ. Cochin.</u>, 7(3): 645-652.
- Muir, J.F. and Roberts, R.J. (1982) Nutrition. A review. <u>Recent Advances</u> <u>in Mariculture</u>. West view. Press. Boulder. Colorado. pp.217-263.
- Nail, M.L. (1962) The protein requirement of channel cat fish. <u>Ictalurus</u> punctatus, Proc. Conf. South. East. Game. Fish. Comm., <u>16</u>: 307-316.
- *Nalzaro, G.G. (1982) Quantitative dietary cholesterol requirement <u>Penaeus</u> <u>monodon</u> juveniles. <u>MS. Thesis. University of the Philippines.</u> pp. 47.
- Nelson, S.G., Amstrong, D.A., Knight, A.W. and Li, H.W. (1977) The metabolic cost of food utilization and ammonia production by juvenile <u>M. rosenbergii. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 57</u>: 67-72.
- New, M.B. (1976) A review of dietary studies with shrimps and prawns. <u>Aquaculture., 9</u>: 101-144.
- New, M.B. (1980) Bibliography of shrimp and prawn nutrition. <u>Aquaculture</u>., <u>21</u>: 101-128.

- Nezaki, G., Pascual, F.P., Ubal, H.L., Murillo, D.P., Jarabejo, E. and Kanazawa A. (1986a) Nutritional requirements of prawn (<u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius) II. Effect of dietary protein and carbohydrate. Terminal report Tigbauan. <u>Iloilo</u> - <u>SEAFDEC</u>. pp. 20.
- Nezaki, G., Murillo, D.P., Ubal, H.L., Pascual, F.P. and Kanazawa, A. (1986b) Nutritional requirements of prawn (<u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius) IV. Effect of dietary lecithin <u>Terminal report Tigbauan</u>, Iloilo. - SEAFDEC. pp. 10.
- Nomura, M., Sakai, K., Inba, D., Nose, T. and Shimma, Y., (1973) Application of improved peru fish meal in fish feed IV. Feeding experiments by pellets. <u>Bull. Freshwater Fish Res. Lab.</u>, <u>23</u>: 105-113.
- Nose, T. (1963) Determination of nutritive value of food protein in fish. II. Effect of amino acid composition of high protein diets on growth and protein utilization of Rainbow trout. <u>Bull. Fresh-</u> <u>water Fish. Res. Lab.</u>, <u>44</u> : 49-52.
- Nose, T. and Toyama, E. (1966) Protein digestability of brown fish meal in Rainbow trout <u>Bull. Fresh Water Fish Res. Lab., 15</u>: 213-224.
- Ogino, C. (1963) Studies on the biochemical composition of some natural foods of aquatic animals. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>29</u>: 459-462.
- Panikkar, N.R. (1952) Possibilities of future expansion of fish and prawn culture practices in India. <u>Curr. Sci., 21(</u>2) : 29-33.

- Panikkar, N.R. and Menon, M.K. (1956) Prawn fisheries of India. <u>Proc</u>. <u>Indo. Pacific Fish. Counc.</u>, <u>6</u>(3) : 328-344.
- Parker, J.C. and S.C. Fred, (1974) An intensive culture system for penaeid shrimp. <u>Proc. World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>5</u>: 65-79.
- Pascual, F.P. (1984) Earthworm, marine annelids and squid as feed ingredients in formulated diets for juvenile <u>Penaeus monodon</u>. <u>Proc.</u> <u>First International Conf. on the culture of Penaeid prawns/</u> <u>shrimps</u>. Iloilocity Philippines. pp. 182.
- Pascual, F.P. (1986) Effect of supplemental lecithin and lipid sources on growth and survival of <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles. Mac Lean, J.L., Dizon, L.B., Hisillos, L.V. (Eds). <u>Proc. of the First</u> Fisheries Forum. Philippines, Manila. pp. 261.
- Pascual, F.P. (1988) Nutrition. In: <u>Biology and Culture of Penaeus monodon</u>. Brackishwater Aquaculture Information System, Aquaculture Department, Southeast Asian Fisheries, Development Center. Tig Bauan, Iloilo, Philippines. 119-137.
- Pascual, F.P. and Destajo, W. (1978) Growth and survival of <u>Penaeus monodon</u> post-larvae fed on shrimp head meal and fish meal as primary animal source of protein. <u>Q. Res. Rep. Aquacult. Dept.</u> <u>S.E. Asian Fish Dev. Center., 2</u>: 26.
- Pascual, F.P., Coloso, R. and Tamse, C. (1983) Survival and some histological changes in <u>P. monodon</u> Fabricius juveniles fed on various carbohydrates. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>31</u>: 169-180.

Pearson, P. (1976) <u>The chemical analysis of food</u>. Churchill, London. pp. 575.

Ŧ

- Phillips, A.M. and Brockway, D.R. (1956) The nutrition of trout. II. Protein and carbohydrate. <u>Prog. Fish. Cult.</u>, <u>18</u>: 159-164.
- *Phillips, A.M., Jr. Livingston, D.L., and Doston, H.A. (1966) The effect of changes in protein quality caloric sources and caloric levels upon growth, chemical composition of brook trout. <u>Fish.</u> <u>Res. Bull., 29</u>: 6-14.
- Pravasoli, L. (1976) Nutritional aspects of crustacean aquaculture. <u>Proc</u>. First. Int. Conf. Aquacult. Nutr., 13-21.
- Primavera, J.H., Lim, C. and Borlongan, E (1979) Effect of different feeding regimes on reproduction and survival of ablated <u>Penaeus</u> <u>monodon</u> Fabricius. <u>Quart. Res. Rep. SEAFDEC</u>. Philippines. <u>3(1)</u> : 12-14.
- Pruder, G.D., Langdon, C. and Conklin, D.E. (Eds) (1983) Penaeid nutrition. <u>Proc. II Internat. Conf. on Aquaculture. nutrition.</u> <u>Sp. Publn.</u> (2) World Maricult. Soc., 112-124.
- Ragnault, M. (1981) Respiration and ammonia excretion of the shrimp
 <u>Crangon crangon</u> L. Metabolic response to prolonged starvation
 <u>J. Comp. Physiol.</u>, <u>141</u>: 549-555.
- Rajyalakshmi, T., Pillay, S., Roy, A.K. and Varghese, P.U. (1979) Experiments on feeds and nutrition of <u>Penaeus monodon</u>. <u>Symp. on Inland</u> <u>Aquaculture</u>, CIFRI. Barrackpore, pp. 108.

- Ramn, K., Munawar Sultan and Abdul Kader, P.M. (1982) Evaluation of supplementary feed for <u>Penaeus indicus.</u> <u>Proc. Symp. Coastal</u> <u>Aquacult. Mar. Biol. Ass. India., 1:</u> 337-347.
- Rani, (1984) Effect of particle size in the compounded diets on the pellet stability and food conversion efficiency in <u>Penaeus indicus</u> Milne Edwards. <u>M.Sc. Dessertation</u>, <u>Centre of Advanced</u> <u>Studies in Mariculture CMFRI, Cochin</u>, pp. 89.
- Rao, K.P. (1958) Oxygen consumption as a function of size and salinity in <u>Metapenaeus</u> monoceros from marine and brackishwater environments. <u>J. Exp. Biol.</u>, <u>35</u>: 307-313.
- Rao, A.U.P. (1967) Some observations on the Biology of <u>Penaeus indicus</u>. Milne Edwards and <u>Penaeus monodon</u> Fabricius from the Chilka lake. <u>Indian J. Fish.</u>, <u>14</u>: 251-270.
- Roberts, R.J. (1978) In: Fish Pathology. Bailliere Tindall, London, pp. 318.
- Rumsey, G.L., (1980) Stability of microingredient in fish feeds. In: Fish Feed Technology FAO/UNDP Training course, College of Fisheries, Univ., Washington, Seattle, WA 9. 197.8 ADCP/REP/80/11. 226-229.
- Sambasivan, S. and Krishnamurthy, K. (1986) Mangrove foliage in the diet of the penaeid prawn <u>Penaeus indicus</u> (Milne Edwards). <u>Ind.</u> <u>J. Mar. Sci., 15</u>: 114-116.
- Sampath, K. (1984) Preliminary report on the effect of feeding frequency in <u>Channa striatus</u>. <u>Aquaculture</u>., <u>40</u>: 301-306.

- Sampath, K. and Srithar, R.T. (1987) Studies on the effects of feeding frequency on food intake and production in <u>Penaeus monodon</u>. <u>J. Aq. Trop., 2</u>: 127-132.
- Sandifer, P.A. and Joseph, J.D. (1976) Growth response and fatty acid composition of juvenile prawn (<u>Macrobrachium rosenbergii</u>) fed on prepared ration augmented with shrimp head oil. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>8</u>: 129-139.
- Scura, E.D. (1985) The challenge and potential of aquaculture Keynote address. J. World Maricult. Soc., 16: 6-15.
- SEAFDEC, (1981) Annual report 1981 <u>Southeast Asian Fisheries Development</u> <u>Centre.</u> Aquaculture Dept. Iloilocity Philippines, 35-50.
- SEAFDEC, (1983) Annual report 1983 <u>Southeast Asian Fisheries Development</u> <u>Centre</u>. Aquaculture Dept., Iloilocity Philippines, 26-30.
- Sedgwick, R.W. (1979) Effect of ration size and feeding frequency on the growth and food conversion of juvenile <u>Penaeus merguiensis</u>. <u>Aquaculture.</u>, <u>16</u>: 279-298.
- Shell, E.W. (1967) Feeds and feeding of warm water fish in North America. <u>FAO</u> Fish. <u>Rep.</u>, <u>44</u>: 310-325.
- Shellbourne, J.E., Breth, J.R. and Shirahata, S. (1973) Effect of temperature and feeding regime on the specific growth rate of sock eye salmon fry (<u>Onchorhynchus nerka</u>) with a consideration of size effect. J. <u>Fish. Ros. Board Can.</u>, <u>30</u>: 1191-1194.

Ň

- Shewbart, K.L., Mies, W.L. and Ludwig, P. (1972) Identification and quantitative analysis of the amino acid present in protein of brown shrimp Penaeus aztecus. <u>Mar. Biol.</u>, <u>16</u>: 64-67.
- Shewbart, K.I., Mies, W.L. and Ludwig, P. (1973) Studies on nutritional requirements of the brown shrimp <u>Penaeus aztecus</u> <u>U.S. Dept.</u> <u>Comm. Rep. No. COM.</u>, 73-11794, <u>NOAA</u>. pp. 52.
- Shigueno, K. (1984) Intensive culture and feed development in <u>Penaeus</u> japonicus. <u>Proc. First Internatl. Conf. on the culture of</u> <u>Penaeid prawns/shrimps.</u> Iloilocity Philippines, 115-122.
- Shigueno, K., Kumada, K., Deshimaru, O., Aramaki, T., Kuroki, K. and Kitaka, K. (1972) Studies on the artificial diets of prawns I. Relationship between the feed efficiency and crude protein in the diets. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>38</u>: 215-228.
- Sick, L.V. and Andrews, J.W. (1973) The effect of selected dietary lipids, carbohydrates and proteins on the growth, survival and body composition of <u>Penaeus duorarum</u>. <u>Proc. World. Maricult</u>. <u>Soc.</u>, <u>4</u>: 263-276.
- *Sick, K.V. and Baptist, G., (1973) Effects of selected physical and nutritional factors on rates of pelleted diet ingestion by post larval penaeid shrimp. <u>J. Elisha Mitchell. Sci. Soc.</u>, <u>89</u>: 161-165.
- Sick, L.V. and Harris, J. 91974) A comparative study in formula food technology and application for Penaeid and Macrobrachium larval and juvenile shrimp. <u>Ga. Mar. Sci. Cent. Tech. Rep.</u> <u>Ser., 75</u>: 1-30.

- Sick, L.V., Andrews, J.W. and White, D.B. (1972) Preliminary studies of selected environmental and nutritional requirements for the culture of penaeid shrimp. <u>Fish. Bull.</u>, <u>70(1)</u>: 102-108.
- Sick, L.V., White, D.B. and Baptist, G.J. (1973) The effect of duration of feeding, amount of food, light intensity and animal size on the rate of ingestion of pelleted food by juvenile penaeid shrimp. <u>Prog. Fish. Cult.</u>, <u>35(1)</u> : 22-26.
- Simpson, K.L., Katayama, T. and Chinchester, C.O. (1981) Carotenoids in fish feeds. J.C. Bauerfeind (Ed). In: <u>Carotenoids as</u> <u>colourants and vitamin A precursors</u>. Academic Press, New York, 463-538.
- Snedecor, G.W. and Cochran, G. (1968) <u>Statistical methods</u>. Oxford & IBH Publishing Co., New Delhi, pp. 593.
- Snow, M.B. and Williams, P.J. (1971) A simple method to determine the O: N ratio of small marine animals. <u>J. Mar. Biol. Ass.</u> <u>U.K.</u>, <u>51</u>: 105-109.
- Spinelli, J., Mahnken, C. and Suzuki, M., (1978) Influence of feed on fin fish quality. In: <u>Fin fish nutrition and Fish feed technology</u>. J.E. Halver and K. Tiews (Eds) Vol. II. H. Heenenmann GmbH, Berlin, 345-352.
- Spinelli, J., Mahnken, C.V.W. and Steinberg, M. (1979) Alternate sources of proteins for fish meal in salmonic diets. In: <u>Fin fish</u> <u>nutrition and Fish feed technology</u>. J.E. Halver and K. Tiews (Eds). Vol. II. H. Heenenmann, GmbH, Berling, 131-142.

- Srikanth, G.K. (1986) Growth response of <u>Tor kudree</u> (Sykes) to pelleted feeds containing different sources of proteins. <u>M.Sc. Thesis</u> <u>submitted to the University of Agricultural Sciences</u>, Bangalore, pp. 87.
- Stanley, J.G. and Jones, J.B. (1976) Feeding algae to fish. <u>Aquaculture</u>., <u>7</u>: 219-223.
- Steffens, W. (1981) Protein utilization by rainbow trout (<u>Salmo gairdneri</u>) and carp. (<u>Cyprinus carpio</u>), a brief review. <u>Aquaculture</u>., <u>23</u>: 337-345.
- *Stern, H.S. (1976) Natural foods for prawns. In: Laboratory studies on selected nutritional physical and chemical factors affecting the growth, survival, respiration and bio energetics of giant prawn <u>M. rosenbergii. Univ. of California</u>. Dept. of Land Air and Water. <u>Resources water SC and Engr paper</u>., 1405. pp. 49-61.
- Stern, S. and Cohen, D. (1982) Oxygen consumption and ammonia excretion during the moult cycle of the fresh water prawn. <u>Macrobrachium</u> <u>rosenbergii</u> (De Man). Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 73A: 417-419.
- Stivers, T. E. (1971) Feed manufacturing (Gaudet, J.L. Ed). Report of the Workshop of Fish Feed Technology and nutrition. Organised by FAO/EIFAC in collaboration with the Bureau of Sport Fisheries and Wild life (1&2). pp. 207.
- Strickland, J.D.H. and Parsons, T.R. (1972) A practical handbook of sea water analysis. Bull. Fish. Res. Bd. Can., 167: pp. 311.

- Stuart, V.E., Head, J.H. and Mann, K.H. (1985) Seasonal changes in the digestive enzyme levels of the amphipod <u>Corophium volutator</u> (Pallas) in relation to diet. <u>J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Econ. 88</u>: 243-256.
- Su, M.S. and Liao, I.C. (1986) Distribution and feeding ecology of <u>Penaeus</u> <u>monodon</u> along the coast of Tungkang, Taiwan. Mc Clean, J.L., Dizon, L.B., Hosillos, L.V. (Eds). <u>Proc. of the First</u> <u>Asian Fisheries Forum</u>. Philippines, Manila, Asian Fisheries Society, 207-210.
- Subrahmanyam, C.B. (1957) Relationship between the body weight and the oxygen consumption in <u>Emerita asiatica</u> (Milne - Edwards). <u>Curr. Sci., 26</u>: 155-156.
- Subrahmanyam, C.B. (1962) Oxygen consumption in relation to body weight and oxygen tensions in the prawn. <u>P. indicus. Proc. Indian</u> <u>Acad. Sci., 55</u>: 152-161.
- Subrahmanyam, C.B. (1963) Notes on the bionomics of the penaeid prawns of Malabar coast. Ind. J. Fish., 10(11): 11-12.
- Subrahmanyam, C.B. and Oppenheimer, C.H. (1970) The influence of feed levels on the growth of grooved penaeid shrimp in mariculture. <u>Proc. World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>1</u>: 91-100.
- *Suehiro, S. (1960) Studies on yeasts developing in putrified marine algae. Sci. Bull. Fac. Agr. Kyushu Univ., <u>17</u>: 443-449.

- *Sure, B. (1948) Nutritional value of soybean meal. <u>J. Agr. Food Chem.</u>, <u>3</u>: 789-797.
- Surya Narayana and Alexander, K.M. (1972) Biochemical Investigations on edible molluscs of Kerala. 1. A study on the nutritional value of some bivalves. <u>Fish. Techn., 9(1)</u>: 42-47.
- Swaminathan, M. (1967) Availability of plant proteins. In: <u>Newer methods</u> of <u>nutritional Bio</u> chemistry. Albanese, A.A. (Ed), Vol. III, Academic Press, New York, pp. 197-241.
- Tacon, A.G.J., Haster, J.V., Featherstone, P.B. Kerr, K. and Jackson, A.J. (1983) Nutritional value of single cell protein sources. <u>Bull.</u> <u>Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>49</u>: 1437-1443.
- Teshima, S. and Kanazawa, A. (1984) Effect of protein, lipid and carbohydrate levels in purified diets on growth and survival rates of the prawn larvae. <u>Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish.</u>, <u>50</u>(10): 1709-1715.
- Thomas, M.M. (1972) Food and feeding habits of <u>Penaeus</u> monodon Fabricius from Korapuzha estuary <u>Indian J. Fish.</u>, <u>19</u>: 202-204.
- Tibbu, N.S., Kungvankij, A.N., Taleon, I., Potestar, and Bautista, M. (1984) Evaluation of artificial feeds for shrimp (<u>Penaeus monodon</u>) in brackish water ponds. <u>Proc. First International Conf.</u> <u>on the culture of penaeid prawns/shrimps</u>. Iloilocity Philippines, pp. 183.
- Tiews, K., Gropp, J., Beck, H. and Koops, K. (1979) Compilation of fish meal free diets obtained in rainbow trout. (Salmo gairdeneri).

Feeding experiment at Hamburg (1970-77/78). In: <u>Fin</u> fish <u>nutrition and Fish feed technology</u>. J.E. Halver and K. Tiews, (Eds), Vol. II. H. Heenenmann GmbH, 219-1228.

- Ubal, H.L.A., Murillo, D.P., Pascual, F.P. Nezaki, G., Kanazawa, A. (1986)
 Nutritional requirements of prawn (Penaeus monodon Fabricius) III Effect of dietary lipids and cholesterol. IN: Nezaki, G.
 (Ed). <u>Terminal report Tigbauan</u>. Iloilocity, SEAFDEC Aquaculture Department, 8-15.
- Uden, N. and Fell, J.W. (1968) Marine yeasts. In: M.R. Droop and E.J. Ferguson wood (Eds). <u>Advances in Microbiology of the sea</u> Academic Press, 167-201.
- Vaitheswaran, S. and Ahamad Ali, S. (1986) Evaluation of certain substances as growth promoting agents for the prawn. <u>Penaeus indicaus</u>. <u>Indian J. Fish.</u>, <u>33(1)</u>: 95-105.
- Vellegas, C.T. (1978) Preliminary studies on growth and survival of <u>Penaeus</u> japonicus post-larvae fed with <u>Tapes</u> and commercial formula feed. <u>Quant. Res. Rep. SEAFDEC</u> <u>Aquaculture Department</u>, Philippines, <u>II(1): 1-4.</u>
- Venketaramiah, A., Lakshmi, G.J. and Gunter, G. (1972) The effects of salinity and feeding levels on the growth rate and food conversion efficiency of the shrimp. <u>Penaeus aztecus.</u> <u>Proc. World</u> <u>Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>3</u>: 267-283.

- *Venketaramiah, A., Lakshmi, G.J. and Gunter, G. (1974) Studies on the effect of salinity and temperature of the commercial shrimp <u>P. aztecus</u> with special regard to survival limits growth and oxygen consumption and ionic regulation. <u>U.S. Ary. Eng.</u> <u>Water W. Exp. Stn. Vicksburg Miss contract Rep.74(2), pp. 134.</u>
- Venketaramiah, A., Lakshmi, G.J., Gunter, G. (1975) Effect of protein level and vegetable matter on growth and food conversion efficiency of brown shrimp. <u>Aquaculture</u>, <u>6</u>: 115-125.
- *Venugopal, M.N. (1980) Studies on the growth response of <u>Catla catla</u> (<u>Ham</u>), <u>Cirrhinus mrigala</u> (<u>Ham</u>), <u>Cyprinus carpio</u> (Linn) to proteins of different sources in the pelleted feeds. <u>Masters</u> <u>Thesis submitted to the Universyt of Agricultural Science</u> Bangalore, pp. 144.
- Venugopal, M.N. and Keshawanath, P. (1984) Formulation, stability and keeping quality of three pelleted feeds used in carp culture. <u>Fish. Technol.</u>, 21: 11-15.

Venberg, F.J. (1983) Respiratory adaptations Biol crust, 8: 1-42.

- Villadolid, D.V. and Villaluz, D. (1951) Cultivation of sugpo. (Penaeus monodon Fabricius) in the Philippines, <u>Philipp. J. Fish.</u>, <u>1(1)</u>: 102-105.
- Viola, S. and Arieli, Y. (1983) Nutrition studies with tilapia (<u>Sarotherodon</u> sp) I. Replacement of fish meal by soybean meal in feeds for intensive tilapia culture. Bamidgeh, <u>35</u>: 27-34.

- Viola, S., Mokady, S., Rappaport, V. and Arieli, Y. (1981) Partial and complete replacement of fish meal by soybean meal in feeds for intensive culture of carp. <u>Aquaculture</u>, <u>26</u>: 223-236.
- Watanabe, T., Kutajima, G. and Fujita, S. (1983) Nutritional values of live organisms used in Japan for mass propagation of fish. A review; Aquaculture, 34: 115-143.
- Wickens, J.F. (1976) The tolerance of warm water prawns to re-circulated water. <u>Aquaculture</u>, <u>9(1)</u>: 19-37.
- *Wilson, R.P. (1984) Amino acid and protein requirements of fish. Proc. Internat. Symp. on feeding and nutrition of fish. Fisheries Society of British. Isles, pp. 100.
- Zein-Eldin and Corliss, J. (1976) The effect of protein levels and sources on growth of <u>P. aztecus. Proc. FAO Tech. Conf. on Aquacul-</u> <u>ture.</u> Koyoto, pp. 16 (Mineographed).
- Zein-Eldin, A.P. and Meyers, S.P. (1973) General considerations of problems in shrimp nutrition. <u>Proc. World Maricult. Soc.</u>, <u>4</u>: 229-317.

* Not referred to in the original

GROWTH RESPONSES OF *PENAEUS MONODON* FABRICIUS TO PELLETED FEEDS OF DIFFERENT PROTEIN SOURCES

BY

JOSEKUTTY P.A.

ABSTRACT OF A THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree

MASTER OF FISHERIES SCIENCE

Faculty of Fisheries Kerala Agricultural University

Department of Aquaculture COLLEGE OF FISHERIES Panangad - Cochin 1991

ABSTRACT

The efficiency and keeping quality of the five pelleted feeds formulated from different protein sources viz, clam meal, prawn meal, slaughter house waste meal, soybean meal, single cell protein (marine yeast) were tested with a view to develop a suitable supplementary feed for Penaeus monodon.

The feeds were isonitrogenous, crude protein content ranged from 39.76 to 40.3%) and isocaloric (Caloric value between 3.34 - 3.72 K.cal/g). The quality of the feeds over a period of four months of storage remained good, eventhough a slight reduction in nutritive value has occurred.

<u>P. monodon</u> juveniles were reared for 6 weeks in experimental tanks with different artificial feeds, the highest growth and survival were recorded in those fed with diet based on animal protein sources. Among the feeds tested, the clam meal based diet was found to be superior followed by diet based on slaughter house waste meal. The diet based on marine yeast was found to give better performance than those based on prawn meal or soybean meal.

The food conversion ratios obtained with different feeds ranged from 2.18 to 3.26. The lowest FCR was recorded in diet based on clam meal (2.18) and the highest (3.26) in diet based on marine yeast.

Protein efficiency ratios and protein digestability values were found to be higher in prawns fed with diet based on clam meal followed by diet based on slaughter house waste meal. Significant variations in the biochemical composition of prawns fed with diet based on different protein sources were recorded.

Significant variations in oxygen consumption, ammonia excretion and O : N ratios were recorded in prawns reared on different protein based diets. Highest oxygen consumption rate and lowest ammonia excretion rate were observed for diets based on animal protein sources than plant or single cell protein source. Among the different diets tested, diet based on clam meal recorded highest oxygen consumption, lowest ammonia excretion and highest O : N ratio values.

The optimum food ration for <u>P. monodon</u> juveniles was found to be at 6% of the body weight while maintenance and maximum rations were 1.8% and 15% respectively for clam meal based diet.

Food consumption, growth and survival of <u>P. monodon</u> increased, as feeding frequency was raised, however these parameters increased only upto an increase of 3 meal/day and there after they showed a declining trend.